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Care Homes 
 
Feedback from the first 6 months of enhancing the 
quality of health care provision for Darlington’s 
nursing and residential care home shows improved 
continuity and level of care, good working 
relationships, a better understanding of long terms 
conditions and practitioners having more time to 
impart knowledge and developments among the care 
home staff. 
 

Foreword 
NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was established on 1st April 
2013 following comprehensive reforms of the health service as part of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012. We were one of only 43 CCGs that were authorised without 
any requirement for additional support. During this time, we have continued our work 
in partnership locally to improve health services for people in Darlington, against a 
backdrop of a severely testing economic climate. 
 
We are a small CCG which is not without its financial challenges, but gives us great 
connectivity with the consulting room. This has meant that we have been able to 
capitalise on a clinically led approach, with GPs best placed to understand the 
needs of their patients and to guide commissioning decisions. The value of this is 
evident in the ground breaking work led by Dr Matthew Sawyer with practices and 
Care Homes to ensure that vulnerable patients are properly looked after.  
 

 
 
Although we are not responsible for commissioning primary care (this is the 
responsibility of NHS England Area Team) we have had a clear focus on Primary 
Care Services in Darlington as the local practice is often the first ‘port of call’ when 
people need to access the NHS. Dr Jenny Steel has led work across all eleven 
practices and spoken with patients, carers and other interested parties to set out a 
vision for primary care towards which we can now build. 
 
Locally our practices continue to meet demand from patients and routinely see 
11,500 patients each week, which is the equivalent of 11% of the local population. 
Our plans for primary care will need to reflect this demand and how best urgent care 
and services can be delivered. This work is being led by Dr Chris Mathieson who is 
working with practices, hospital clinicians, pharmacists and others to ensure the 
needs of our patients are being met. 
 
Our Community Council, which is made up of volunteer patients from local practices, 
helped adopt a five-point Charter that sets out our commitment to meaningful 
engagement, through which we will listen to and act upon the voice of local people 
and work to improve health and wellbeing across the Borough of Darlington. 
It is important as well that we grow and work through ‘third sector which include 
organisations such as charities or not for profit organisations or voluntary and 
community sector organisations’ and smaller community groups to build increasing 
levels of resilience locally. We were very fortunate to be able 
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Dragons’ Den 
 
The community innovations fund looked to the 
voluntary and community sector to explore new ways 
of working and imaginative models of support to 
enhance the quality of life for families in Darlington 
and ensure people receive the correct advice and 
support for their own health and wellbeing. 

to support five schemes through our Community Innovations Fund, ‘Dragons’ Den´, 
which we will look to continue.  
 

 
 
We are also working with other CCGs and local hospital trusts on a project called 
‘Securing Quality in Health Services’ to ensure that local hospitals can continue to 
deliver high quality care and services and ensure that the right number of doctors are 
available on hospital wards to assess, diagnose and treat acutely ill patients. 
 
 
 
 
Dr Andrea Jones      Martin Phillips 
Chair,        Accountable Officer, 
NHS Darlington CCG     NHS Darlington CCG 
 

Member practices’ introduction   
Close partnership working amongst GP Practices has a long tradition in Darlington 
and we have worked hard during our first year to consolidate this with the new 
commissioning arrangements. Our CCG has a clear focus on improving health and 
healthcare services for our patients.  
 
With a population of just over 100,000 we are one of the smallest CCGs, yet we face 
some big challenges. Over the next few years we expect that the growing elderly 
population, variations in health across our area and increases in the number of 
people with long-term conditions will add more pressure to our services.  To meet 
these challenges we must work to: 
 

• Improve the health status of the people of Darlington  
• Address the needs of the changing age profile  
• Secure the right services at the right time in the right place 
• Manage our resources well 
• Invest in primary care and services 
• Secure meaningful engagement with people 

 
Supporting our vision ‘Working together to improve the health and wellbeing of 
Darlington’ we have been working closely with local hospital and community-based 
services and neighbouring CCGs. We have also started to build closer ties with 
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Darlington Borough Council, using our combined resources and expertise to develop 
efficient healthcare services that are focused on our patients’ needs.  
 
If we are to meet our challenges we must also connect with our community. Patient 
participation groups, public events and campaigns have made it easier for local 
people to let us know what they think about existing healthcare services and helped 
set priorities that will meet their needs now and in the future. By establishing our own 
Patient Charter, we have also set out a strong commitment to listen to local people 
and patients and take action based on what we hear.  This is the start of a process 
we will be developing further in years to come.  
 
The annual report reflects on our progress and performance throughout the year and 
gives details of the impact our members have had in key areas. The report also 
includes information about how the Governing Body have evaluated their 
performance; this information can be found in the governance statement. 
 

Lay Member championing Public and Patient 
Involvement 
By Michelle Thompson, Lay Champion for Public and Patient Involvement and 
Engagement 
 
As a member of the Darlington CCG’s Governing Body I share responsibility as part 
of the team to ensure that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently, 
economically, with good governance and in accordance with the terms of the CCG 
constitution, as agreed by its members. I seek to bring my unique perspective, 
informed by my own specific expertise and experience, as well as my knowledge as 
a member of the local community. My focus is strategic and impartial, providing an 
independent view of the work of the CCG that is external to the day-to-day running of 
the organisation. 
 
I endeavour to ensure that the voice of the local population is heard and that 
opportunities are created and protected for patient and public empowerment in the 
work of the CCG. In particular that: 
 

• Patients, carers and the public views are not only heard, but listened to and 
acted upon 

• Their expectations are understood and met as appropriate 
• The CCG builds and maintains an effective relationship with Healthwatch 

Darlington and draws on existing patient, carer and public engagement and 
involvement expertise  

• The CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to secure patient, carer and 
public involvement and responds in an effective and timely way to feedback 
and recommendations. 
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Prior to authorisation all CCGs were assessed on their plans for inclusion of patients, 
carers, the public, communities of interest and geography, health and wellbeing 
boards and local authorities. This included the ability to gather, analyse and act on 
the information received. Darlington CCG gained an exemplary standard in meeting 
this requirement.  
 
Public involvement in decisions about their health services underpins the work of 
CCG. NHS reforms including the strengthening of the NHS Constitution and the 
Francis and Keogh reports make involving and engaging patients, carers and public, 
listening to their views and experiences an imperative. Darlington CCG is in a strong 
position to continue building on the good relationships already in place across the 
public and voluntary and community sectors in Darlington to enable effective and 
timely engagement. 
 
The CCG has shown a real commitment to realising their intentions but, due to 
limited resources, the delivery of their objectives has proved challenging. As Lay 
Member for Patient and Public Involvement and Engagement (PPIE), I need to seek 
assurance that patients, carers and the public are fully involved in each step of 
decision making.  
 
I feel the CCG are clearly demonstrating meaningful and effective involvement of 
patients, carers, public, groups and organisations. This is becoming evident as we 
see the views of individual patients translated into commissioning decisions and the 
voice of the community including each practice population being sought and acted 
upon.  
 
However there is much more to do including more active involvement with children 
and young people and easily overlooked groups.  To achieve this, the CCG will need 
to draw on the expertise of the voluntary and community sector to reach a more 
diverse audience as well as the public and private sectors to reach the educational 
and working population.  
 
There also needs to be a greater commitment by North of England Commissioning 
Support (NECS) commissioning managers and planners, and member practices to 
understand their PPIE requirements. The CCG Governing Body are committed to 
supporting my recommendation for the implementation of a Patient and Public 
Engagement Framework template, which is a 
checklist for  types of engagement, planning 
and evaluation when looking at service re-
design strategies.   
 
I am proud to be a part of the CCG’s continuing 
commitment to meaningful engagement 
especially with the creation of a PPIE Charter. 
Not only is this a pledge to listen to what really 
matters to local people, it’s a pledge to ensure 
those voices within the very heart of our 
communities are heard and acted upon 
throughout the decision making process. 
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Strategic report 
About us 
NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) took over responsibility for 
planning and purchasing the majority of health services from Darlington primary care 
trust and we are responsible for commissioning health care services including: 
 

• Planned and emergency hospital care 
• Rehabilitation 
• Most community services 
• Mental health and learning disability services.  

 
We also arrange emergency and urgent care services and commission services for 
unregistered patients who live locally.  
 
Clinical Commissioning Groups bring together a range of healthcare professionals 
and managers to offer patients more control of their own care; provide a greater 
focus on healthcare and quality; and to increase the freedom of medical 
professionals  
  
NHS Darlington CCG is made up of all 11 GP local practices. We work closely with 
other CCGs, particularly our neighbours at NHS Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield CCG and NHS North Durham CCG as well as with local hospitals, 
Darlington Borough Council, the Health and Wellbeing Board, Healthwatch 
Darlington and the voluntary and community sector. 
 
We have also developed strong links with health professionals, managers, patients, 
carers and the public to make changes which will improve the health and 
experiences of the Darlington population. 
 
We access many specialist business services via the NHS North of England 
Commissioning Support Unit (NECS). 
 
NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group can certify that it has complied with 
the statutory duties laid down in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) 
and that the accounts have been prepared under a direction issued by the NHS 
Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 
 

Our priorities 
During our first year we have established a number of priorities.  We know that 
people living within our region have a lower life expectancy than those in other parts 
of the country; however there are also significant local variations in health and 
wellbeing. Men from the least deprived areas of Darlington live nearly 15 years 
longer than those from the most deprived areas and the difference for women is 
almost 12 years.  
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Death rates from heart disease and stroke have improved since 2006 to 2008 but 
remain higher than the England average. Heart disease, stroke and cancer account 
for approximately 65% of premature deaths (under 75 years) with lung and liver 
disease also contributing.  Common contributory factors include poverty, smoking, 
alcohol, poor diet, inactivity and high blood pressure.   
 
The stress of living in poverty is particularly harmful to vulnerable groups and income 
deprivation is a significant issue for many older people in Darlington. 
 
Alcohol consumption has more than doubled in the last 60 years, as has alcohol 
related harm.  Excessive consumption is recognised as a major cause of ill health 
and community damage, with alcohol-related problems estimated to cost the 
Darlington economy £42.08m.   
 
Our ‘clear and credible plan’ 2012 – 2017 sets out the CCG’s plan to meet these 
challenges, identifying the following key objectives:  
 

• Providing health services which are safe and of the highest quality  
• Ensuring the best possible health outcomes  
• Joining up services which benefit patients and the public and give best value 

for money  
 
Our operational plan for 2013/14 and the ‘clear and credible’ plan may be found at 
www.darlingtonccg.nhs.uk/publications/  
 
Over this first year we have worked hard to provide safe, effective, high quality 
healthcare services that meet the needs of the population.  We have sought to 
commission the right services in the right place and increase services available 
outside of hospital.  By placing care closer to where people live we believe we can 
improve the quality of life for patients and their carers and address equity of access 
to healthcare.  We are also committed to delivering local people their entitlements 
and rights under the NHS Constitution. 
 

Improving performance   
Our vision ‘Working together to improve the health and wellbeing of Darlington’ 
runs through everything we do. This year, we have worked with our partners to 
improve the health and wellbeing of patients and to improve our performance against 
national targets, local targets and the requirements of the NHS Constitution.  
  
Avoidable admissions 
Reduction in avoidable emergency admissions  
 
Considering performance against all of the avoidable emergency admission targets, 
Darlington CCG has reported a position in 2013-14 below the target set. 
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There was a single occurrence of a wait in A&E from decision to admit time to 
admission of greater than 12 hours. This occurred in February 2014 at County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust. The local CCGs are working together 
with the trust on a comprehensive action plan to improve patient experience in their 
emergency departments. 
 
Cancer waiting times 
Cancer waiting times  
 
Darlington CCG has met the year-to-date targets for eight out of the nine categories 
for cancer waiting times. Performance for the 62 day wait urgent GP referral 
category was 84.1% (2013-14 figure), slightly below the 85.0% target. This category 
was under target in five months (May, September, October, November and March).  
Performance improved December through to February and performance in February 
was well above target at 94.4%. Each case that exceeded the timeframe is being 
reviewed to identify reasons for the delay and identify solutions.  
 
Healthcare acquired infections 
 
MRSA  CDiff  
 
Darlington CCG had one incidence of MRSA over the period April – March, this case 
was in December 2013. 
 
Challenging targets for clostridium difficile (CDiff) were set nationally as part of the 
2013/14 Operating Framework requirements. The CCG’s yearly threshold for 
incidence of C-Diff was 21. By 31 March 2014 the CCG had reported15 cases.  
 
Referral to treatment 
RTT  52 week waits  
 
Darlington CCGs year-to-date performance for referral to treatment pathways treated 
within 18 weeks are all above target. The position for 2013-14 was 94.3% for 
admitted pathways, 98.7% for non-admitted pathways and 95.0% for incomplete 
pathways.  For diagnostic tests the 2013-14 performance is 0.2% of patients waiting 
over six weeks. 
 
Between April 2013 and March 2014, two patients waited over 52 weeks, both were 
on incomplete pathways. 
 
Quality premium 
The quality premium rewards clinical commissioning groups (CCGs) for improving 
quality of services and for associated improvements in health outcomes and 
reducing inequalities. It is based on a number of different measures that are set each 
year. Some measures are set nationally for all CCGs and others can be set locally by 
the CCG to address local priorities.  
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In 2013/14 four national indicators were based on the NHS Outcomes Framework, 
and three local indicators were agreed by the CCG with Darlington Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and with the NHS England Area teams for Durham, Darlington and 
Tees. 
 

% of Quality 
Premium

Measure

12.5%
Reduction 3.2% between 2012 and 
2013

25.0%

ISR 13/14 ≤ ISR 12/13 
OR
ISR 13/14 < 1,000 per 100,000 
population

12.5%
Implement FFT in Q1 13/14 AND
increase score between Q1 13/14 and 
Q1 14/15

12.5%
Zero MRSA
AND decrease
C-Diff on target

12.5% Less than 586 admissions  per 100,000 
population

12.5% Less than 142 per 100,000 population

12.5% Less than 395 admissions  per 100,000 
population

100.0%

Lo
ca

l

Emergency admissions for children with lower respiratory tract 
infections

Under 75 mortality rate for cancer

Unplanned hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in 
under 19's

TOTAL

Indicator

N
at

io
na

l

Domain 1: Preventing people from dying prematurely

Domain 2&3: Enhancing quality of l ife for people with long term 
conditions and helping people to recover from episodes of i l l  health 
or following injury

Domain 4: Ensuring that people have a positive experience of care

Domain 5: treating and caring for people in a safe environment and 
protecting from avoidable harm

 
 
The quality premium is payable to the CCG if it manages within its resources for 
2013/14, which Darlington CCG was able to do.   
The total payment for a CCG (based on its performance against the four national 
measures and three local measures) will be reduced if its providers do not meet the 
NHS Constitution rights or pledges for patients in relation to: 
 

• Maximum 18-week waits from referral to treatment 
• Maximum 4-hour A&E waits  
• Maximum 62-day waits from urgent GP referral to first definitive treatment for 

cancer 
• Maximum 8-minute responses for Category A red 1 ambulance calls 

 
Failure of each of these will result in a reduction of the Quality Premium payment of 
25.0%. 
 
Data for some indicators will not be available until Autumn 2014 so it is not yet 
known how much of the quality premium Darlington CCG will earn. Based on March 
2014 year-to-date data the CCG will not achieve the indicator relating to Domain 5. 
In addition the target for 4-hour A&E waits was not met so this will result in a 25.0% 
reduction to the quality premium and cancer waiting times were slightly below target 
which means a further 25.0% reduction. 
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General practice 
Investment in primary care and services are clear priorities for the CCG. General 
Practice is the foundation upon which excellent health and healthcare services are 
built. The CCG has invested in the development of a Primary Care Strategy which 
will be taken forward over the next few years. Critical to the success of primary care 
is the partnership with patients.  
 
The source for patients’ experience of GPs is the GP Patient Survey – December 
2013 results www.gp-patient.co.uk/results/latest_weighted/ccg/  
Results included for every CCG in the country using aggregated data collected 
during January-March 2013 and July-September 2013. 
 
Overall GP experience 
For overall GP experience we compare well to the national average. 50% of our 
patients reported a ‘very good’ experience in Darlington, 6% higher than the national 
statistic.  
 
Out of hours GP service 
For out of hours experience the percentage of people responding ‘very good’ was 
5% higher than national average (34% compared to a national average of 29%). 
 

Listening to local people  
Meaningful engagement with local people is central to the work of NHS Darlington 
CCG. We want to make sure that as many people as possible are given the 
opportunity to have their say on healthcare priorities and decisions about their health 
services. Over the year local people have been encouraged to get involved in a 
number of ways:    
 
Patient and public involvement and engagement charter (PPIE)  
The CCG is committed to securing meaningful engagement with patients and the 
public and to ensure that even the quietest voices are heard. By listening to and 
acting upon the voice of local people we will be better placed to meet our challenges. 
This has resulted in the development of a five-point Charter, created with the help of 
the CCG’s Community Council and focusing on the following themes: 
 

• Meaningful voices: Engaging with people and involving patients is central to 
the development, improvement and reform of services provided to the general 
population. PPIE will be fully embedded in the design and delivery of the 
services. 

• Leadership: There is executive level responsibility for PPIE and clear 
organisational engagement strategy. All job descriptions, performance 
measures and staff roles will have defined PPIE activity including consistent 
training and support.  

• Proactive engagement: We will ensure PPIE is innovative and meets 
organisational objectives by proactively engaging with individuals and groups 
across all areas of our business. The cost and benefit of of PPIE will be built 
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into plans and all activities will identify specific PPIE spend.  
• Collaboration: We will build on good links with local interest groups and 

organisations to share the best ways of involving local people and to ensure 
that they are aware of engagement opportunities. This will be linked into wider 
community programmes ensuring all service and special interest groups are 
represented.  

• Celebration: We will celebrate and recognise the contribution that patients, 
carers and the public makes, in influencing our decision making, 
understanding the real impact that meaningful PPIE provides across all areas 
of our work and being accountable for all our decisions. 
 

Joint patient and public involvement and engagement group 
A joint working group has been established between Darlington Borough Council 
(DBC), the CCG, North of England Commissioning Support (NECS) and Healthwatch 
Darlington (HWD) to work together on engagement strategies to reduce duplication 
of work and to share resources.  
 
The group, which was initially established to support the transition arrangements for 
the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB), has recently grown to include County 
Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust and Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS 
Foundation Trust. Communications and engagement are stronger due to the joined 
up approach and there is consistency to key messages. 
 
Governing body  
The public are welcome to observe quarterly governing body meetings and, following 
the meeting, have the opportunity to ask questions. The governing body meets 
informally once a quarter with members as part of its development programme and 
to understand issues in depth. These sessions also provide the forum with 
recommendations to be taken forward in the CCG’s organisation development plan. 
 
Website - www.darlingtonccg.nhs.uk 
The website is updated regularly and is essential to promote and communicate who 
the CCG are, what they do and how to get involved in influencing decision making. It 
includes commissioning intentions, plans, policies, reports, e-bulletins, news and 
information and signposting.  
 
The CCG is also exploring other websites to complement their own and give patients 
more opportunities to express opinions at a local level. One such website is ‘Patient 
Opinion’, an independent not for profit community enterprise organisation which has 
been running for eight years. It enables the public to give real time information about 
their experiences with local health services.  Comments made online are a powerful 
tool for patient choice and in forcing providers and commissioners to address any 
public criticisms made. 
 
Most stories receive a response from providers/commissioners straightaway and 
there have been many satisfactory outcomes for both parties where the smallest of 
concerns have led to change and made the biggest difference for patients. 
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Social Networking - @DarloCCG 
Although the @DarloCCG Twitter account is in its infancy, it is an effective and 
popular way to reach out to a younger audience and the working population with the 
potential for links to online surveys, questions and answer sessions for example 
#AskTheCCG. Followers are growing steadily and currently stand at 471.  Many 
individuals and organisations will retweet comments they feel are valuable to their 
followers.  
 
Healthwatch Darlington 
Healthwatch Darlington (HWD) is the consumer champion for health and social care 
services in Darlington and reviews the needs of the community to ensure the right 
services are provided and challenges to poor health are tackled. They play an 
important part in gathering and presenting views from service users and the wider 
community.  
 
It is recognised that the CCG and HWD, whilst operating independently, have a 
mutual interest in ensuring that patients, carers and the public have a voice in 
determining the shape and delivery of health and social care services within 
Darlington.  
 
Working together the two organisations:  
 

• Involve service users, patients and the public in planning and developing new 
and existing health and social care services that respond to identified local 
needs  

• Ensure active listening and feedback to service users, patients and the public 
to prove that their views have made a difference at all levels, from AGM to 
local reporting via newsletters, Twitter and websites.  

• Ensure that all the views of service users, patients and the public are heard, 
including those groups who are often on the margins of society 

• Ensure that health care is based around need and is sensitive to differing 
values and preferences 

• Ensure that service users, patients and the public are fully engaged in the 
process of information giving/receiving and the design of patient information 
 

Recent joint working includes the Your Health, Your Town, Your Say event, Business 
and Community Roadshows, Enter and View visits to hospital wards and urgent 
care, #AskTheCCG college student visit, information sharing and help with 
engagement plans for the Planned Care and Urgent Care committees for the Clinical 
Programme Board.    
 
Future activities include business and community #AskTheCCG events, Better Care 
Fund consultation, enter and view visits, engagement plans for specific work streams 
and for HWD to be a critical friend depending on the outcomes of their frequent 
consultations and feedback mechanisms. 
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Voluntary and Community Organisations 
eVOLution are the local voluntary and community sector (VCS) infrastructure 
organisation for Darlington and are members of the CCG Community Council. 
They provide a voice for the VCS and aim to promote support and develop 
groups and organisations to bring about positive change in the lives of people 
and their communities.  
   
There are many local voluntary and community sector organisations with a real 
commitment to improving outcomes for their service users. They recognise and 
value their staff and volunteers and continually look for new ways to benefit the 
people using their services. 
 
In September the CCG launched an innovative funding project inviting proposals 
from the voluntary and community sector to better understand the sector and the 
challenges and opportunities it brings. Crucial to the success of the proposals was 
the ability to embrace the CCG’s project goal: “to enhance the quality of life for 
families in Darlington and ensure people receive the correct advice and support for 
their own health and wellbeing”. 
 
The project attracted many imaginative proposals. The CCG look forward to more 
involvement from the VCS through the many other involvement and engagement 
opportunities in the future. 
 
Call to Action 
The North of England Commissioning Support Unit (NECS) team supported the 
CCG in encouraging local people to take part in ‘A Call to Action’,  a discussion 
about the future challenges facing the NHS and how local services might change in 
order to deal with increasing demand and rising costs. Feedback informed the 
development of a range of 3-5 year strategies designed to safeguard the NHS into 
the future. 
 
Your Health, Your Town, Your Say 
In July 2013 Healthwatch Darlington (HWD) hosted an engagement event in 
partnership with the CCG and Darlington Borough Council (DBC).  The event 
brought together residents, voluntary and community sector organisations, service 
providers and commissioners.  
 
The CCG, HWD and DBC gave updates and feedback from the previous year’s 
event and information about future commissioning intentions and priorities. 
Feedback was gathered from workshop sessions and questions taken away to gain 
a better understanding of the needs of residents and organisations.  
The objectives for the day were to: 
 

• Learn more about ways to improve Health and Social Care services in 
Darlington 

• Network and get to know each other better 
• Learn from successes, and talk about challenges 
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• Understand how individuals can use their voices to influence change 
• Have our say by working together 

 
Discussion included GP access, the Choose Well campaign, what people value from 
GP practices, suicide prevention, discharge support, inappropriate systems, How to 
get involved/how to get your voice heard, Taking Responsibility, Adult Mental Health, 
Diabetes and the Francis Report. 
 
Newsletters including the CCG’s response to attendees’ comments were distributed 
in August with an update on actions taken in December.  
 
Frail and elderly clinical summit 
The County Durham and Darlington Clinical Programme Board (CPB) is made up of 
senior leaders from local CCGs, hospitals and Primary Care. The board gathered in 
November 2013 to consider the needs of the frail and vulnerable elderly – one of the 
highest users of health and social care services. The experience of these users 
commonly demonstrates how services provided for them do not always reflect their 
needs, or co-ordinate well with each other. 
 
AGE UK Darlington were invited as one of the guest speakers as was HWD and 
Healthwatch County Durham (HWCD) who had sought patient and carer views prior 
to the event. 
 
The valuable input received was fed into the summit and two follow up events were 
held in January in Darlington and in County Durham specifically to give service 
users, carers and families the opportunity to take part in improvement workshops.  
Information from the events and feedback gathered from 160 individuals and 
organisations was included in a report for the CCGs to consider in their strategic 
plans and plans are now underway to implement some of the changes needed to 
better meet the needs of the elderly. 
 
Dementia work stream collaboration project - gathering evidence 
In January 2014 Clinical Commissioning Groups in Darlington and County Durham 
asked their local Healthwatch organisations to collaborate on a patient journey 
consultation. The consultation was carried out directly with dementia patients, their 
families and carers to enable their views, opinions and experiences to directly 
influence the Darlington and County Durham Dementia Strategy for 2014-17 and to 
highlight gaps in current dementia services.  
 
The project highlighted the trials and tribulations that carers face on a daily basis, 
showing where services excel whilst also bringing areas for improvement to the 
forefront.  
 
Community Council 
The CCG Community Council acts as an advisory body, championing patient views, 
providing quality assurance and ensuring that quality services are provided in an 
appropriate, safe, effective and timely manner. 
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Local GP practices run Patient Participation Groups, most of which have elected a 
representative to attend the Community Council providing a direct link to the CCG 
governing body. The Council also includes representation from HWD and eVOLution.  
 
The Community Council has met monthly since February 2013 covering topics such 
as the Francis Report, the primary care strategy, securing quality in hospital 
services, Call to Action, patient transport services and the Choose Well campaign. 
Recent discussions have included: the 111 service and the issues people face when 
using the system, end of life and palliative care especially concerns about the 
Liverpool Care Pathway, why people use accident and emergency instead of GPs 
and urgent care, the Better Care Fund and the Innovation Fund.  
 
All of the CCG officers have been involved with conversations with the Community 
Council including the financial health of the CCG.  Members appreciate the frank 
discussions and are keen to ensure the information is cascaded down to their 
respective patient participation groups and community groups. 
 
The Community Council actively support the setting up of PPGs in Darlington and 
have already shared good practice between member representatives on 
engagement work.  
 
Challenges 

The CCG must continue to engage so that the local population knows who we are 
and understands our visions and priorities. We have to provide assurance that we 
will be listening to them and including them in decision making right from the start.   
As such we must: 
 

• Maximise the use of joint resources and opportunities across partners e.g. 
The Joint PPIE Working Group 

• Ensure we give enough time to consult and use different methods of 
consultation such as workshops, presentations, surveys and meetings 

• Deliver timely feedback and answer questions in an honest and transparent 
way 

• Ensure our bulletins, website and documents are jargon free and easy to 
understand 

• Gain the trust of the local population to ensure their active participation in 
consultations and communications to help shape future services 

• Be aware of the groups we have not yet engaged with effectively and continue 
to work with HWD to look at new and innovative ways reach our communities 

 
Patient and public engagement (PPE) framework template 
The CCG will adopt a standard ‘way of working’ which provides a checklist for 
commissioners and planners to understand PPE requirements. This includes 
methods of engagement, planning and evaluation. Objectives should be in place to 
provide meaningful engagement with hard to reach groups including the following: 
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Community and business engagement 
Darlington has a diverse multicultural community, some of which are overlooked, and 
more work needs to be done to involve these groups in decision making The CCG is 
looking to use councillors ward surgeries, community newsletters and community 
events to promote and engage via #AskTheCCG (small consultation events) at every 
opportunity. We are exploring the opportunity of working with local businesses to 
connect with these groups as many employers have a good intranet system which 
the CCG could use to post surveys and information.  This needs to be fully explored 
and needs to be consistent to be effective.  
 
Black minority and ethnic network 
Presentations given to this network at a monthly meeting will reach representatives 
from the travelling community, Asian community, European community and many 
others. More work needs to be done and HWD are currently helping the CCG to look 
at tailoring engagement to each community. HWD are also exploring the Police and 
Community Together (PACT) meetings including the Polish PACT. 
 
Children and Young People 
HWD recently invited the CCG as part of the #AskTheCCG to speak to journalism 
students at Darlington College to give the students a better understanding of the 
health and social care system.  Further engagement with new innovative ideas is 
necessary in this area especially with the Youth Parliament and potential health 
champions in secondary schools.  
 

The year in focus 
During our first year as a statutory body, we have worked hard to establish 
ourselves, focusing on improving the health of our local population and building on 
high standards of patient care.   
 
We have strengthened relationships with partners across the health and social care 
sector, setting common goals, making the best use of shared resources and taking 
our first steps to develop services that will enable the people of Darlington to live 
longer, healthier lives. 
 
Darlington Together; from rhetoric to reality 
Public services continue to be challenged, both financially and by demographic 
changes. We require an imaginative response to ensure that local people are not 
disadvantaged as a result. Central to this is creating an environment where people 
can positively influence outcomes and clinicians are empowered to lead change. The 
CCG and Darlington Borough Council (DBC) share an Ambition for Excellence that 
delivers the right care in the right place at the right time with no waste, focusing on: 
 

• Evidence-based, accessible, safe and effective services 
• Care that delivers improvement in health outcomes and reduces inequalities 
• integrated  care pathways and services across providers  
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Together with DBC we are developing an action plan for a single pooled budget for 
health and social care services as part of the Better Care Fund (BCF) which will 
come into full effect in 2015/16. We are using the fund to stimulate innovation locally 
and to wrap care and services around communities that will lessen the burden on 
acute services. The fund will support the vision and priorities in urgent care, mental 
health, frail elderly and long term conditions. 
 
We have established an ‘Operating Model’ that ensures we work as a collaboration 
of commissioners and providers, where the interests of the patient is paramount and 
organisational interest will not get in the way of patient improvements.  
 
Along with DBC we have examined a hypothesis that a single team operating across 
the local authority and NHS locally is best placed to serve the people of Darlington. 
We believe that the savings made can be invested front line services. Consequently, 
we have agreed to share our commissioning resource and pull together ‘health and 
social care’ commissioning into a single team as the first step towards a strategic 
partnership that puts the people and place of Darlington at the focus for planning and 
development.  
 
As a member of the Darlington Health and Wellbeing Board we helped develop the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy, which provides the overall framework for improving 
health and wellbeing across Darlington.  
 
We have set up a Community Innovation Fund for local voluntary and community 
sector organisations that come up with innovative ideas for improving health and 
wellbeing locally. During the year we provided almost £60,000 for projects ranging 
from a club that helps homeless people access health services to a scheme 
promoting self-confidence through play for children living in the most deprived areas 
of the town.  This year our Community Innovation Fund is: 
 

• Helping the 700 Club to support homeless people and those at risk of being 
homeless through health lifestyle coaching 

• Supporting AGE UK to establish five cafes for older people in Darlington, 
focusing on healthy hearts, alcohol reduction, depression, hearing loss and 
macular degeneration 

• Helping the Alzheimer’s Society to introduce a ‘Singing in the Brain’ group, a 
music-themed activity that will run fortnightly and provide attendees with 
social and fun activities 

• Enabling Skerne Park Community Enterprise Association to support families 
with young children to help make healthy and affordable choices about food 
and exercise 

• Allowing Groundwork to continue to introduce inclusive play activities for 
children aged 5-13 years who live in some of the most disadvantaged areas 
promoting healthy lifestyles and the importance of physical activity and 
healthy eating 

 
The CCG is also working with Darlington Borough Council, Tees, Esk and Wear 
Valley NHS Foundation Trust and County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust on a project that will allow people to manage their own long-term condition and 
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provide a clear pathway for treatment and services.  
  
Primary care strategy and developing the collaborative ‘Caring for 
Darlington beyond Tomorrow’ 
The CCG has begun work on a long term programme to deliver significant changes 
in local service delivery.  Starting with GP provision, we recognise that effective and 
integrated high quality Primary Care services are the bedrock for effective 
commissioning of other services and pivotal in achieving integrated pathways across 
health and social care services.  
 
Early in 2013 Darlington CCG established a primary care strategy group under the 
leadership of Dr. Jenny Steel to capture views on challenges in General Practice and 
explore the value primary care contributes to the wider healthcare system. The 
engagement activities also tested the appetite for a different way of working, one that 
will preserve the best elements of general practice in Darlington and allow it to 
flourish.  
 
From the initial findings we summarised that Darlington GPs are delivering quality 
services which are very much valued. However longer life expectancy together with 
more complex long-term conditions means that many doctors simply cannot continue 
to meet patient demand. 
 
Dr. Steel has now progressed discussions with practices to a point to which there is 
an agreement from all eleven practices in Darlington to working more closely 
together to deliver primary healthcare services. We are delighted that Jenny and her 
colleagues have secured funding from NHS England Area Team to support the next 
steps and maintain the momentum of this project. 
 
Better services  
We took a step forward in our plan to improve services by relocating evening and 
overnight urgent care services from Dr Piper House in the town centre to the 
emergency department at Darlington Memorial Hospital.  The integration of 
services was designed to provide local people with access to the right care, in the 
right place, first time. It will reduce the number of people who need to be redirected 
for treatment and mean that fewer people use the emergency department 
inappropriately. 
 
We are also working with CCGs across Teesside and Durham to improve the quality 
of hospital care in our region. The Securing Quality in Health Services (SeQIHS) 
project looked at establishing clinical quality standards in acute hospitals in the areas 
of paediatrics and maternity services, acute care and end of life care.  The next 
phase of the project will support organisations to work towards achieving these 
standards.   
 
Improving care for people with chronic breathing problems across Darlington is a key 
objective. We are joining forces with colleagues in the local hospital trust and 
community services on a pilot pulmonary rehabilitation programme to improve 
care for patients with COPD (Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease).     
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A two year pilot scheme to enhance the quality of healthcare provision for care 
home residents started in September 2013. The scheme sees Darlington GP 
practices co-ordinating patient care within nursing and residential care homes, 
undertaking weekly ward-round visits and working closely with staff at the home to 
improve use of medications, better care planning and improve care for residents in 
their final months of life.  We expect that the scheme will dramatically improve the 
care of residents and help to reduce emergency hospital admissions and 
attendances at A&E. 
 
The CCG has supported two high profile promotional campaigns over the year. Our 
‘Keep calm and look after yourself’ campaign was designed to signpost local 
people to the right NHS service for their needs and remind them that many common 
winter ailments and illnesses are easily treated at home, or with advice from a 
pharmacist – with no need to see a doctor or nurse. The seven week long campaign 
was launched in November 2013 to coincide with the busy winter period.   
 
The ’My Medicines, My Health’ promotion started in February 2014. Collaboratively 
funded by the region’s 12 clinical commissioning groups, it was designed to 
encourage people over 60 years of age with long-term medical conditions to keep on 
top of their illness by storing all their medicines in one place and take them to any 
medical appointments. The campaign was advertised on regional TV, radio and in 
shopping centres.  
 
The CCG actively supports the Darlington South Park Run, a free fun 5k run that 
takes place every Saturday morning.  Open to everyone, irrespective of age or 
ability, the weekly time trial is an ideal opportunity for people to get fit, stay fit and 
improve fitness.   
 
In January, the CCG worked with its partners Darlington, Drug and Alcohol Action 
Team, the local authority Licensing Unit, Pubwatch, Dry Friday and police to stage an 
alcohol-free pub crawl, 'Driday Night Out'.  Darlington pubs offered promotions on 
soft drinks and non-alcoholic cocktails with the aim of showing people that they could 
have a good time without alcohol.  
 
Developments in clinical quality  
Assuring the quality of care and services is central to the work of the CCG and in 
partnership with other CCGs we have implemented processes and resources to 
ensure clinical quality is managed across local health services. We invested in 
‘Patient Opinion’ to enable direct feedback and led the development of 
‘Commissioner Visits’ to service providers. We achieve this by: 
 

• Learning when things go wrong by ensuring our providers carry out analysis 
of critical incidents to prevent recurrence 

• Looking at patient complaints to improve services and ensuring providers do 
the same 

• Drawing from surveys and Friends and Family Tests to understand and 
improve the patient experience 

• Setting challenging service standards for our providers, over and above those 
laid down by government 
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Friends and Family Test 
The Friends and Family Test (FFT) was introduced in April 2013 and requires NHS 
Trusts to survey patients within 48 hours of discharge from hospital and find out if 
they would recommend our hospital to friends and family if they needed similar care 
or treatment? 
 
From 1 April 2013 the FFT was implemented for inpatients and patients discharged 
from A&E and it was rolled out to maternity services in October 2013.  
 
The FFT for maternity services asks women questions at three stages during their 
pregnancy, seeking feedback about antenatal care, birth and care on the postnatal 
ward and postnatal community care. 
 
The graphs below compare the FFT data for the providers most frequently used by 
Darlington CCG patients. In May 2014 there was a refresh of FFT data for the 
months March 2013 through to January 2014 and this is now reflected in the results. 
 
 
In-patient services, response rates and scores 
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Accident and Emergency Departments, response rates and scores 

 
 
Maternity services, scores 
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Commissioner visit programme 
In conjunction with other local CCGs, Darlington CCG operates a very successful 
rolling programme of visits to provider sites and services.  This programme has been 
nationally recognised by NHS England as a good practice approach by the CCGs, 
ensuring quality services are being delivered in relation to the following areas: 
 

• Healthcare associated infections 
• Patient experience 
• 15 steps challenge (first impressions, safety, involvement, privacy and dignity) 
• Workforce and staffing 
• Clinical quality 
• Safeguarding adults 
• Safeguarding children 

 
The 2013-14 programme included visits to most of the main acute and community 
hospital sites within County Durham and Darlington as well as a number of care 
homes with which the CCGs directly commission beds.  The programme also 
involved a series of visits to community nursing teams, ambulance stations, 
emergency departments and urgent care/walk-in centres. 
 
At the end of each visit verbal feedback is provided and a formal report outlining visit 
findings is shared with the provider organisation within four weeks of the visit.  
Providers are requested to implement action plans and share these with CCGs in 
order that service improvements can be monitored. 
 

Sustainability and the environment  
Strategy 
Our Sustainable Development Strategy sets out our commitment to work in ways 
which maximise the health, social and economic benefits our activities bring to the 
community while minimising our impact on the environment. 
 
Sustainable development requires Darlington CCG to be mindful of the need to 
safeguard the future in all of our choices, decisions, and actions. Wherever possible 
the CCG and individuals should take opportunities to contribute positively to the local 
economy and community, reduce waste and utilities consumption, and minimise any 
negative impact on the environment both now and for future generations. 
 
Working in a sustainable way means rethinking a lot of what we do. It affects not only 
the major strategic decisions we take but also how we go about our daily business. 
 
Getting these decisions right will not only help us save money, eliminate 
unnecessary waste in the system and reduce our carbon footprint; it demonstrates to 
partners and the public that the CCG is dedicated to enhancing individuals’ wellbeing 
through our work as commissioners of high quality health services, but also by 
enhancing the wellbeing of the local and global community through taking seriously 
our corporate responsibilities. 
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Greenhouse gas emissions and use of finite resources 
Data in relation to greenhouse gases and finite resources for the CCGs properties, 
that are leased from NHS Property Services, could not be provided to the CCG by 
NHS Property Services for the current year, but will be disclosed in future years.   
 
Waste 
We work hard to minimise the creation of waste. The CCG has a robust approach to 
recycling. Paper, cardboard, glass, metal, ink cartridges, batteries, waste electrical 
goods and confidential waste are all recycled. 
 

Equality and diversity  
 
NHS Darlington CCG takes equality and human rights into account in everything we 
do, whether commissioning services, employing people, developing policies, 
communicating, consulting or involving people in our work. 
 
Using the Equality Delivery System (EDS) framework, we embed equality into all our 
core business functions and see it as an opportunity to raise equality in service 
commissioning and performance for the community, patients, carers and staff. 
 
This year we refreshed our Equality Analysis (EA) toolkit and guidance which covers 
all equality groups offered protection under the Equality Act 2010. This ensures that 
we can identify the effect of our policies, procedures and functions on the population 
we serve. We will take immediate steps to deal with any negative impact and make 
sure equity of service delivery is available for all.  
 
Our staff 
Our staff continue to manage through unprecedented levels of change as new NHS 
architecture and new organisations were established.  
 
Equality and diversity training is a mandatory requirement for our staff. Anyone 
involved in recruitment is required to undertake recruitment and selection training 
which includes awareness of equality and diversity legislation as it relates to the 
recruitment process. All staff receive a copy of the quarterly newsletter which 
contains up-to-date information on equality, diversity and human rights legislation 
and developments. 
 
Our annual absence rate is 1.2% with an average of 3.75 days being lost each 
calendar month. CCG policies are in place and applied to manage sickness absence 
effectively across the staff group. 
 
Equal opportunities for staff 
We demonstrate fair recruitment, workforce engagement and employment terms and 
conditions for staff at all levels in the organisation.  
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Our governing body members are made up of the following:  
 
 Male Female 
Governing body members 5 5 
Very senior managers 0 1 
CCG employees 2 9 
 
Working relationships 
Engagement and partnership is an important part of our culture, our partnerships 
with local NHS Trusts, voluntary and community sector organisations and community 
groups enable us to identify the needs of our diverse community. 
  
We invite people to be involved as little or as much as they like, enabling them to 
help shape and influence the way NHS health services are commissioned. In 
particular in 2013/14 we have consulted widely on the proposed relocation and 
integration of the Urgent Care Service in Darlington. 
 
Open approach 
As an open, accessible commissioning group we work hard to ensure our services 
are inclusive and welcoming to everyone. Our public buildings are accessible for 
people with a disability and we’ve earned the two tick ‘positive about disabled 
people’ symbol which demonstrates our commitment to employ, retain and develop 
disabled staff.  
 
When it comes to providing information, we are committed to using everyday 
language wherever possible, including interpreting services. Public information is 
offered in other languages and formats such as large print, Braille or audio.  
Compliments and complaints 
We welcome all feedback, positive or negative, and have invested in ‘Patient 
Opinion’ as a tool to secure direct feedback from local people. Feedback is routinely 
invited through the website www.darlingtonccg.nhs.uk and Twitter account 
@DarloCCG. Feedback on people’s experience of local NHS services will helps us to 
improve services for patients.  
 

Financial review 
Financial performance 
The funding allocated to Darlington CCG for 2013/14 was £135.5m, comprising 
resource to spend on healthcare of £132.9m and an allowance for administration or 
running costs of £2.6m. 
 
The CCGs net spend on healthcare was £132.8m and on administration was £2.4m 
resulting in an under spend of £0.3m. 
 
The CCG’s financial plan was developed to deliver a surplus of 1% in 2013/14. 
However it was apparent during the year that this would be challenging and the CCG 
failed to achieve this, reporting an overall surplus of £0.3m for the year which was 

24 
 



Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual report and accounts     2013-14 

 

£1m lower than initially planned. Higher than planned costs relating to acute hospital 
care and high prescribing costs resulting from increases in nationally agreed drugs 
tariffs were the key drivers of the CCGs failure to perform in accordance with its 
financial plan. The factors driving the CCGs financial performance have been 
addressed in operational and strategic plans including the re-establishment of its 
requirement to generate a 1% surplus.  
 
The chart below indicates how the CCGs funding was split across the services we 
commission: 
 
The need to increase the funding available for hospital services and prescribing 
limited the ability of the CCG to invest in service developments and improvements 
during the course of the year, however a small number of schemes were funded, 
including: 
 

• Scheme to  improve care to patients in nursing and residential care homes in 
Darlington 

• A pilot scheme to provide a rapid response nursing service to palliative care 
patients 

• Enhancement of mental health liaison services 
 

25 
 



Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual report and accounts     2013-14 

Key financial performance targets 
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices 
by the due date or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later. 
Performance for Darlington CCG in 2013/14 was as below: 
 
Non NHS NHS 
Target 95.0% Target 95.0% 
Result by number 97.9% Result by number 98.8% 
Result by value 96.9% Result by value 99.9% 
 
Darlington CCG met its duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended) with 
performance against each duty as follows: 
 
Duty Target 

£000 
Performance 

£000 
Expenditure not to exceed income 135,502 135,177 
Capital resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 

- - 

Revenue resource use does not exceed the 
amount specified in Directions 

135,502 135,177 

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) 
does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

- - 

Revenue resource use on specified 
matter(s) does not exceed the amount 
specified in Directions 

132,892 132,815 

Revenue administration resource use does 
not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

2,610 2,362 

 

Governance, audit and risk committee 
A governance, audit and risk committee was in place for Darlington CCG throughout 
2013/14. 
 
The role of chair of the governance, audit and risk committee was undertaken by 
Michelle Thompson in an interim capacity until November 2013, at which point John 
Flook was appointed as chair. 
 
Other members of the governance, audit and risk committee during 2013/14 were: 
 

• Dr Patrick Holmes, GP and Deputy Lead Clinician 
• Dr Richard Harker, GP and CCG Quality Lead 
• Lucy Hansen, Secondary Care Clinician 
• Andie Mackay, Lay Member  
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Looking forward 
We recognise that in the coming months, with financial uncertainty, we will face many 
challenges. Within Darlington, there are increasing demands of an ageing and 
growing population which will increase pressure on services but we need to ensure 
that we are still maintaining high quality services and ensuring services that we buy 
are safe and for the benefit of our patients. 
 
The coming years will present further significant financial pressures to Darlington 
CCG as the demand for health services is expected to grow faster than our funding. 
It is clear that the existing models and pattern of service provision are unlikely to 
sustain service quality and reasonable access in the light of foreseeable financial 
settlements for the NHS nationally. In developing our plans for the next five years we 
have set a clear direction of travel that requires us to work closely with healthcare 
providers and other partners such as the local authority to secure the continuity of 
high quality health care services for the population of Darlington. In so doing we will 
continue to put the patient at the centre of the healthcare system. This will involve 
the redesign of some services with a greater focus on the provision of care outside of 
acute hospital settings where safe and appropriate. 
 
In 2015/16, the Better Care Fund is being introduced which is a single pooled budget 
across both the CCG and the local authority with the aim to enable us to transform 
integrated health and social care. This in itself will require substantial changes in the 
way that services are delivered, with a focus on services being delivered where 
possible closer to patients homes within the community. 
 
In taking the CCG plans forward the burden of expectation of GPs and other 
professionals needs to be recognised as we ask an increasingly small cadre of 
dedicated professionals to free themselves from their day job to ensure that 
decisions continue to be clinically informed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Martin Phillips 
Accountable Officer 
5 June 2014 
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Members report  
Governing body  
The governing body is responsible for reviewing decisions and formally approving all 
the plans for NHS Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group.  Details of Members of 
the Membership Body and Governing Body are below. 
 
Governing body: 
Dr Andrea Jones, Chair 
Originally from Leeds Andrea qualified as a doctor from the University of Newcastle, 
started work as a GP in 1990. As Chair of the Darlington CCG her role includes 
overall responsibility of the governing body and engagement of clinicians, the public, 
patients and key stakeholders. 
 
Martin Phillips, Chief Officer 
Martin joined the NHS in 1984 as a graduate working in Sunderland. He has 
accumulated almost 30 years of experience in the North East, working in a range of 
operational, planning and commissioning roles.  
 
Dr Patrick Holmes, Deputy Lead Clinician 
Patrick qualified as a GP in 1998 and joined the Felix House Surgery, Middleton St. 
George in the same year.   In addition to being Deputy Clinical Lead, he has specific 
roles in developing services for the care of long-term conditions. He chairs the CCG 
Members’ Assembly. 
 
Dr Richard Harker, Quality Lead  
Richard was born and bred in Darlington and has been a GP for 28 years.  His main 
interests are quality in General Practice and performance assessments of doctors 
giving concern. 
 
Lucy Hansen, Secondary Care Clinician 
Lucy is a Consultant Physician at Northumbria Health Care Foundation Trust. 
 
Michelle Thompson, Lay Member for Patient and Public 
Involvement  
A volunteer who lost her sister to cancer then survived the disease herself, Michelle 
has pledged to ensure a strong voice for patients.  She raises funds and awareness 
for Macmillan Cancer Support, and is also the Chair of Healthwatch Darlington.   
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John Williams, Governance Lay Member (until 30.04.13) 
John Williams was formerly leader of Darlington Borough Council and served on the 
County Durham and Tees Strategic Health Authority. John passed away in July 2013 
following a serious illness. 
 
John Flook, Governance Lay Member, (from October 2013) 
John has a wealth of NHS and financial expertise built up during his 20 years’ 
experience as director of Finance and in non-executive roles across the North East. 
 
Andie Mackay, Lay Member (from October 2013) 
Andie is a serving firefighter with over 27 years’ experience with the County Durham 
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service.   
 
Lisa Tempest, Chief Finance Officer 
Lisa joined from South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, where she was Chief 
Operating Officer for the Community Services Division.  Prior to joining the NHS in 
2008, Lisa worked for BASF plc, National Power plc and Nike. 
 
Elizabeth Graham, Chief Nurse and Quality Lead 
Liz trained as a registered nurse and midwife in the 1970s. Her previous roles 
included senior midwife for quality assurance and staff development at North Tees 
and Hartlepool Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. She was previously Director of 
Nursing and Clinical Quality at NHS County Durham and Darlington Primary Care 
Trust. 
 
Member practices 
Blacketts Medical Practice   
63-65 Bondgate  
Darlington  
County Durham 
DL3 7JR 

Felix House Surgery 
Middleton Lane 
Middleton St George  
County Durham  
DL2 1AA 

Orchard Court Surgery 
Orchard Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL3 6HZ 

Carmel Medical Practice  
Nunnery Lane  
Darlington  
County Durham  
DL3 8SQ 

Parkgate Surgery  
Park Place 
Darlington  
County Durham  
DL1 5LW 

Rockliffe Court 
Hurworth Place 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL2 2DS 

Clifton Court Medical Centre 
Victoria Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL1 5JN   

Moorlands Surgery 
139a Willow Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL3 9JP 

Whinfield Surgery  
Whinbush Way 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL1 3RT  

The Surgery  
Denmark Street  
Darlington  
County Durham  
DL3 0PD 

Neasham Road Surgery 
186 Neasham Road 
Darlington 
County Durham 
DL1 4YL 
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Governing body and committees members 2013/14 CCG  
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Robert (Steve) Charlton 
(Apr – Sept) 

GP and Practice Representative 
for Orchard Court Surgery 

  M (1)   M (0) M (2)   

Karen Crook Practice Manager for Carmel 
Medical Practice 

  M (3)     IA  

John Flook 
(Nov – Mar) 

Governance Lay Member M (1)    C 2014 (2)    M (0) 

Ahmet Fuat 
(Apr – Sept) 

GP and Practice Representative 
for Carmel Medical Practice 

  M (2)   M (3)    

Angela Gill Practice Nurse Representative for 
Whinfield Medical Practice 

  M (1) M (0) – until 
Sept 13 

 M (12)    

Elizabeth Graham Chief Nurse and Quality Lead M (4) M (9) IA   M (11) M (9) IA  
Richard Harker Quality Lead, GP Partner and 

Practice Representative for 
Whinfield Medical Practice 

M (2) M (6) M (7) M (0) – until 
Sept 13 

M (3) C (9)  IA  

Lucy Hansen Secondary Care Clinician M (3)    M (0) M (0)   M (0) 
Patrick Holmes Deputy Lead Clinician and 

Practice Representative for Felix 
House Surgery 
 

M (3) M (5) C (7) M (2) M (2)  C (7)   

Sally Hutchinson Practice Manager for Denmark 
Street Surgery 

  M (2)    M (5) IA  

Paul Irving Practice Manager for  Moorlands 
Surgery 

       IA  

Andrea Jones Chair C (4)  M (8) IA C (4)    IA M (2) 
Jackie Kay Assistant Chief Officer IA M (8) IA M (3)  M (6)    
Gail Linstead Commissioning Manager      M (8) IA   
Andie Mackay 
(Oct – Mar) 

Lay Member  M (1)    M from Nov 
13 (3) 

M from Dec 
13 (8) 

   

Christopher Mathieson GP and Practice Representative 
for Neasham Road Surgery 

  M (6) M 2014 (2)      

Charles McGarrity GP and Practice Representative 
for Parkgate Surgery 

  M (1)   M (6)    
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Alison McNaughton-Jones GP and Practice Representative 
for Rockliffe Court Surgery 

  M (6)   M (8)    

James Nevison GP and Practice Representative 
for Denmark Street Surgery 

  M (6) M (2)   M (6) IA  

Basil Penney 
(Oct – Mar) 

GP and Practice Representative 
for Carmel Medical Practice 

  M (4)       

Martin Phillips Chief Officer M (4) C (8) IA     IA IA 
Matthew Sawyer GP and Practice Representative 

for Clifton Court Medical Centre 
  M (4) M (3)  M (5)    

Anthony Shaw GP and Practice Representative 
for Moorlands Surgery 
 

  M (4)   M (9)    

Jenny Steel GP and Practice Representative 
for Blacketts Medical Practice 

  M (6) M 2014 (2)   M (7)   

Richard Stevens 
(Oct – Mar) 

GP and Practice Representative 
for Orchard Court Surgery 

  M (5)    M (3)   

Lisa Tempest Chief Finance Officer M (4) M (10) IA  IA  M (10)  IA 
Michelle Thompson Lay Member for Patient and Public 

Involvement  
M (4)    C 2013  

M 2014 (5) 
M (5) M C (10) C (2) 

John Williams 
(April 2013) 

Governance Lay Member M (0)         

Micaela Young GP and Practice Representative 
for Denmark Street Surgery 

   M (0)      
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Darren Archer 
(Apr – Jul) 

Provider Management – North East Commissioning Support Unit     IA    

Mike Brierley Head of Customer Programme, North East Commissioning Support Unit  IA      
Miriam Davidson Director of Public Health, Darlington Borough Council IA IA      
Carole Ferguson Patient Participation Group Representative for Carmel Medical Practice      M  
Kenneth Frid 
(Jun - Mar) 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Parkgate Surgery      M  

Kay Fletcher Human Resources Business Partner, North East Commissioning Support     IA  IA 
Andrea Goldie Healthwatch Darlington      IA  
Barbara Hope Patient Participation Group Representative for Orchard Court Surgery      M  
Betty Hoy Patient Participation Group Representative for Moorlands Surgery      M  
Katharine Humby Senior Clinical Quality Officer, North East Commissioning Support Unit    IA    
Kirsty Kitching Senior Commissioning Manager – Provider Management, North East 

Commissioning Support 
    IA   

Audrey Lax Patient Participation Group Representative for Blacketts Medical Practice      M  
Graham Levett Patient Participation Group Representative for Middleton St George      M  
Charlotte Linton eVolution      IA  
Barbara Nimmo Medicines Optimisation Pharmacist, North East Commissioning Support    IA    
Sue Nuttall Safeguarding Adults Senior Manager    IA    
Murray Rose  Director of People, Darlington Borough Council IA       
Andrew Rowlands Senior Commissioning Support Officer – Provider Management, North 

East Commissioning Support Unit 
    IA   

Kevin Scollay Senior Finance Manager – Commissioning Finance, North East 
Commissioning Support 

    IA   

Andrew Stainer Senior Commissioning Manager – Service, Planning and Reform, North 
East Commissioning Support Unit 

    IA   

Terry Taylor Patient Participation Group Representative for Neasham Road Surgery      M  
Jean Thurkettle 
(Apr – May) 

Patient Participation Group Representative for Parkgate Surgery        

Kath Wall Patient Participation Group Representative for Denmark Street Surgery      M  
Jenny Young Patient Participation Group Representative for Blacketts Medical Practice      M  
 
The internal and external auditors attend the Governance, Audit and Risk Committee. 
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Register of interests (2013/2014) 
Name Designation Gifts & 

Hospitality 
Remuneration Related 

Undertakings 
Contracts Houses, Land 

& Buildings 
Shares & 
Securities 

Non-Financial 
Interests 

Election 
Expenses 

Andrea Jones CCG Chair No interest 
declared 

From 01/05/13 
– 30/03/14 
Salaried GP 
working one 
day a week at 
Felix House 
Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Chair of Parish 
Meeting at 
Great Stainton 
village in the 
Borough of 
Darlington 

No interest 
declared 

Richard Harker DCCG Quality Lead 
GP Partner and Practice 
Representative for 
Whinfield Medical Practice 

Partner, 
Whinfield 
Medical 
Practice 
GMC Associate 
DCCG Quality 
Lead 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Vice Chair of 
Board of 
Trustees St 
Theresa’s 
Hospice 

No interest 
declared 

Patrick Holmes Deputy Lead Clinician and 
Practice Representative 
for Felix House Surgery 

Occasionally 
receives 
funding to 
cover travel 
and 
accommodation 
to attend the 
National & 
International 
Congresses by 
Pharmaceutical 
Companies 

Occasionally 
works for a 
number of 
pharmaceutical 
companies.  
Research 
grants 
State/Education 
+ Industry 

Director of 
Middleton 
Pharmacy Ltd, 
DL2 1BN 
Partner at Felix 
House Surgery 
DL2 1AA 

No interest 
declared 

Part-own some 
land in 
Middleton St 
George, close 
to High Scrogg 
Farm (potential 
land for 
developing a 
future surgery) 

Owns shares in 
a managed 
fund – it is 
possible that 
this may be 
healthcare 
related.  Fund 
is not managed 
by Dr Holmes 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Martin Phillips 
 
 
 

Chief Officer No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Wife is 
employed as a 
Paediatric 
Physiotherapist 
at CDDFT. 
Member of 
UNITE 

No interest 
declared 
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Lucy Hansen Secondary Care Clinician No interest 
declared 

Full time 
employment at 
Northumbria 
Healthcare 
NHS 
Foundation 
Trust 
& Medical 
Major Incident 
Commander for 
North East 
Ambulance 
Service 
 

Principal 
Investigator 
undertaking a 
non-
interventional 
study of the use 
of rivaroxaban 
vs warfarin for 
deep vein 
thrombosis. 
Funded by 
Bayer into 
Northumbria 
trust research 
fund 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

John Flook 
(Nov – March) 

Lay Member Governance No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

NHS 
Professionals 
Ltd – Senior 
Non Executive 
Hummersknot 
Academy Trust 
– Director. 
Sport England 
– Independent 
Member Audit 
Committee 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Michelle 
Thompson 
 

Lay Member PPI/PPE No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Chair of 
Healthwatch 
Darlington and 
Fundraiser and 
advocate for 
Macmillan 
Cancer Support 

No interest 
declared 

Andie MacKay 
(Oct – March) 

Lay Member No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Lisa Tempest 
 
 
 

Chief Finance Officer No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Sister is 
employed as 
Podiatrist by 
North Tees and 
Hartlepool FT 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Liz Graham Chief Nurse and Quality 
Lead 

None None None None None None None None 

Jackie Kay Assistant Chief Officer No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Partner is an 
employee of 
ISS Mediclean 

No interest 
declared 
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who provide 
hard and soft 
facilities 
management 
services to 
County Durham 
& Darlington 
NHS Trust 

Murray Rose Director of Services for 
People, Darlington 
Borough Council 

No interest 
declared 

Employed by 
Darlington 
Borough 
Council 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Member of the 
National Union 
of Teachers  
Member of the 
Associated of 
Directors for 
Children’s  
Services 
 

No interest 
declared 

Miriam Davidson Director of Public Health, 
DBC 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Gail Linstead 
 
 

Commissioning Manager No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

James Carlton Salaried GP No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Charlotte Holt PA to Chief Officer & 
Chair, Darlington CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Glenda Lynn PA to Chief Officer & 
Chair, Darlington CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Angela Gill 
 

Practice Nurse 
Representative 

No interest 
declared 

Employed by 
GP Practice 
member of the 
CCG, Whinfield 
Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Sally Hutchinson Practice Manager 
Representative 
 

No interest 
declared 

Employed by 
Denmark St 
Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Matthew Sawyer GP and Practice 
Representative for Clifton 
Court Medical Centre 
 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Chris Mathieson 
 

GP Practice 
Representative for 
Neasham Road Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 
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James Nevison GP Partner and Practice 
Representative, Denmark 
St Surgery 

Partner at 
Denmark St 
Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

Partner in GP 
Practice who 
may hold 
contract with 
new CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Jenny Steel 
 

GP and Practice 
Representative for 
Blacketts Surgery 
 
 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Director of 
Blacketts Skin 
& Laser Clinic 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Charles McGarrity GP and Practice 
Representative for 
Parkgate Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

Member of the 
Sedgefield 
locality 
executive 
committee of 
DDES CCG 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Anthony Shaw GP and Practice 
Representative for 
Moorlands Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Prof Ahmet Fuat GP and Practice 
Representative for Carmel 
Medical Practice 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Alison 
MacNaughton-
Jones 

GP and Practice 
Representative for 
Rockliffe Court Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Richard Stevens 
(Oct – Mar) 

GP and Practice 
Representative for 
Orchard Court Surgery 

Partner at 
Orchard Court 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Basil Penney 
(Oct – Mar) 

GP and Practice 
Representative for Carmel 
Medical Practice 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

Robert (Steve) 
Charlton 
(Apr – Sept) 

GP and Practice 
Representative for 
Orchard Court Surgery 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 

No interest 
declared 
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Pension liabilities  
Treatment of pension liabilities in the accounts is outlined in note 1.9.2 and 3 of the 
accounts.   
 

Sickness absence data 
A table is included in the employee benefits note to the financial statements and 
shown in note 3.3 of the accounts. 
 

External auditors 
Following a procurement process undertaken by the Audit Commission, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were appointed as auditors to the CCG for 2013/14. 
The cost of audit services can be found in note 4 of the CCG’s annual accounts. 
 
The auditors took an annual work plan to the governance, audit and risk committee 
for approval. 
 
This confirmed that the audit team are independent of the CCG and also would 
include any details of non-audit work if applicable. When considering whether the 
level of non-audit work is appropriate the CCG would consider if the auditors 
continue to be independent. 
 

Disclosure of serious untoward incidents 
Information on the disclosure of serious untoward incidents is referenced in the 
governance statement which can be found on page 47. 
 

Cost allocation and setting of charges for 
information  
We certify that the clinical commissioning group has complied with HM Treasury’s 
guidance on cost allocation and the setting of charges for information. 
 

Principles for remedy  
Principles for Remedy published by the Parliamentary and Health Service 
Ombudsmen in May 2010 have been adopted by the CCG as part of best practice 
recommendations within the complaints procedure. 
 

Employee consultation 
We have regular communication with our employees at Darlington CCG. Some of the 
mechanisms that we include are: 
 

• Our chair and chief officer report and an overview of our governing body is 
sent to all employees 
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• Monthly stakeholder bulletin that is circulated to employees 
• Regular news and updates are cascaded throughout the team 
• Weekly staff meeting and monthly members’ assembly meetings 
• The use of our website and intranet, Communications Wall and GP Teamnet 

 
Disabled employees  
We have policies in place in relation to disabled employees to ensure all employees 
and potential employees are treated fair and equally. All staff undertake mandatory 
training which includes the equality and diversity legislation.  
 

Emergency preparedness, resilience and response 
We certify that the CGG has incident response plans in place, which are fully 
compliant with the NHS Commissioning Board Emergency Preparedness Framework 
2013. The CCG regularly reviews and makes improvements to our major incident 
plan and have a programme for regularly testing this plan, the results of which are 
reported to the Governing Body. 
  

Statement as disclosure to auditors 
Each individual who is a member of the Governing Body at the time the Members 
Report is approved confirms: 
 

• So far as the member is aware the is no relevant audit information of which 
the CCG external auditor is unaware 

• That the member has taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a 
member in order to make them self-aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the CCG’s auditor is aware of that information 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Martin Phillips 
Accountable Officer 
5 June 2014 
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Statement by the Accountable 
Officer 
Statement of Accountable Officer’s responsibilities 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 
Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 
appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has 
appointed Martin Phillips to be the Accountable Officer of the Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 
 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer, including responsibilities for the 
propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is 
answerable, for keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning Group and 
enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the requirements of the 
Accounts Direction) and for safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Group’s assets 
(and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and 
other irregularities), are set out in the Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable 
Officer Appointment Letter. 
 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 
directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 
financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction.  
 
The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 
expenditure, changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply 
with the requirements of the Manual for Accounts issued by the Department of Health 
and in particular to: 
 

• Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 
relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 
accounting policies on a consistent basis 

• Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 
• State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Manual for 

Accounts issued by the Department of Health have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any material departures in the financial statements 

• Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis 
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To the best of my knowledge and belief, I have properly discharged the 
responsibilities set out in my Clinical Commissioning Group Accountable Officer 
Appointment Letter. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Martin Phillips 
Accountable Officer  
5 June 2014 
 

Governance statement by the Accountable Officer 
1.  Scope of responsibility  
The Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) was licenced from 1 April 2013 under 
provisions enacted in the Health and Social Care Act 2012, which amended the NHS 
Act 2006. Prior to this date the CCG operated in ‘shadow’ form as a Committee of its 
predecessor Darlington Primary Care Trust. The period of ‘shadow’ operation 
allowed the CCG to complete its authorisation without any conditions being placed 
upon it by NHS England. 
 
The Governing Body of the CCG is accountable for internal control. As Accountable 
Officer, and Chief Officer to the Governing Body of the CCG, a new statutory 
organisation, I have responsibility for establishing and maintaining a sound system of 
internal control for policies, aims and objectives. I also have responsibility for the 
safeguarding of public funds and departmental assets as set out in the Accountable 
Officer Memorandum and assigned to me in Managing Public Money. As 
Accountable Officer, I am personally responsible for ensuring that public funds are 
safeguarded and that the endeavours of the CCG are administered prudently and 
economically and that resources are deployed efficiently and effectively and with due 
regard for financial propriety and regularity.  
 
2. The purpose of the system of internal control  
 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level 
rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it 
can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. 
The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to: 
 

• Identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the policies, aims and 
objectives  

• Evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should 
they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically 

 
The system of internal control has been in place in the CCG for the year ended 31 
March 2014 and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts. 
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3. Capacity to handle risk  
As Chief Officer, I have overall accountability for the management of risk, risk 
management systems and internal controls in place across the CCG together with 
the development of corporate governance and assurance framework so that all the 
statutory requirements are met to ensure positive performance towards our strategic 
objectives. All officers of the CCG and its agents recognise that the effective 
management of risk is part of everyday management of business and Directors are 
responsible for:  
 

• Co-ordinating operational risk in their specific areas in accordance with the 
Risk Management Policy 

• Ensuring that all areas of risk are assessed appropriately and action taken to 
implement improvements 

• Ensuring that staff under their management are aware of their risk 
management responsibilities in relation to the Risk Management Policy 

• Incorporating risk management as a management technique within the 
performance management arrangements for the organisation 
 

There are a number of systems and processes in place to ensure the Governing 
Body receives robust assurances on the overall effectiveness of arrangements. 
These are set out in the Governance Framework. Arrangements for controlling risks, 
including support for staff are set out in the risk and control arrangements.  
 
4. Governance framework  
The Constitution sets out the duties, responsibilities and overall framework for the 
good governance of the CCG. The Constitution approved by NHS England in 
October 2013 sets out the structures systems and process for the discharging of 
duties, delivery of responsibilities and arrangements for decision-making. 
 
The Governing Body comprises a Clinical Leader who is the Chair, two GP 
members, a Chief Nurse, Chief Finance Officer, a secondary care clinician, three lay 
members including one with specific responsibilities for Governance, Audit and Risk 
as well as one with specific responsibilities for Patient and Public Involvement and 
Engagement. As Accountable Officer I am also a member of the Governing Body. 
The lay members, together with the secondary care clinician have important roles 
within the governance framework of the CCG. 
 
The Governing Body has an ongoing role in reviewing the CCG’s governance 
arrangements to ensure that these continue to reflect the principles of good 
governance.  The Governance Risk and Audit Committee plays a key role in 
supporting this by providing assurance to the Governing Body around the risk and 
governance processes within the CCG.  
 
During the year 2013/14 the CCG’s Governing Body met on four occasions. All 
meetings were held in public and agendas were structured to deal with strategic, 
performance, quality assurance, risk and governance issues. 
 
The Governing Body has established five principle Committees for the conduct of its 
business as well as a Remuneration and Terms of 
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Service Committee and Clinical Leadership Group. Each Committee is chaired by a 
member of the Governing Body and all have important roles in the governance 
framework. The two service Committees are comprised of member practices and 
chaired by a GP. The Quality and Innovation Committee is chaired by the GP lead for 
Quality and the Finance and Performance Committee is chaired by the deputy lead 
clinician. Both Committees have delegated responsibility for and effective scrutiny of 
the quality and innovation and finance and performance.  
 
The Governance Audit and Risk Committee is chaired by the lay member with the 
lead role in overseeing key elements of Governance and the Community Council of 
Patients, Public and Cares by the lay member championing Patient and Public 
Involvement. The Governing Body is also supported by an Executive which I chair.  
 

 
 
As a member organisation, the CCG’s member practices are best placed to direct 
informed arrangements so that the interests of patients and their care are central to 
the commissioning decisions of the CCG. I have therefore created an Assembly for 
members that holds the Governing Body clinically to account. The Members 
Assembly is chaired by a representative of a member practice.  
 
The roles of each of the Governing Body Committees are set out broadly below.  The 
Governing Body Committees have authority under the Scheme of Delegation to 
establish sub-committees or sub-groups to enable them to fulfill their role.  Each 
committee has detailed Terms of Reference which are 
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referenced within the CCG’s Constitution and are available on the CCG’s website. 
Each Committee is authorised by the Governing Body to pursue any activity within 
their Terms of Reference and within the Scheme of Reservation and Delegation.   
 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee 
The Committee is established to make recommendations to the Governing Body on 
pay and remuneration for senior employees of the CCG and people who provide 
services to the CCG.  This includes remuneration for executive officers as well as the 
Chair and independent lay members and other Governing Body members.  The 
Committee also consider any business cases for early retirement and redundancy. 
  
Governance Audit and Risk Committee 
The governance, audit and risk committee supports the governing body in its main 
function of ensuring the CCG has made appropriate arrangements in place to assure 
that the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and 
adheres to relevant principles of good governance, specifically that the CCG has 
good systems and processes across all of its functions and statutory responsibilities.   
 
The committee has oversight to review any decision where a GP or other individual 
has declared an interest, but has agreed to continue to be engaged in the 
consequent discussion and potentially the decision. Its work will dovetail with that of 
the quality and innovation committee to seek assurance that robust clinical quality is 
in place to assure the CCG of its responsibilities for safeguarding and mandatory 
training.   
 
The Committee’s cycle of business includes review of the CCGs risk management 
processes, including the Assurance Framework and corporate risk register.  The 
Committee considers the work of both internal and external audit, together with other 
assurance functions including in particular those relating to North of England 
Commissioning Support (NECS), upon which the CCG is dependent for the majority 
of commissioning support, to fulfil its role of providing assurance to the Governing 
Body.    
 
The Governance Audit and Risk Committee, as part of its terms of reference, 
provides an Annual Report of its work to the Governing Body and interim updates as 
required.  The report covering the financial year 2013/14 will be available alongside 
the final Annual Report and Accounts in June 2014 to support the final Annual 
Governance Statement. The principal purpose of the report is to provide assurance 
to the Governing Body and to support the Accountable Officer’s review of the internal 
control arrangements. The Governance Risk and Audit Committee has a business 
cycle which enables the Committee to carry out the objectives necessary to support 
its assurances regarding the effectiveness of the organisation’s internal controls. 
 
Finance and Performance Committee 
The Finance and Performance Committee supports the CCG to achieve financial 
balance, including delivery of QIPP financial targets, and organisational performance 
objectives, through reviewing performance in-year and implementing relevant any 
actions as required. 

43 
 



Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual report and accounts     2013-14 

 

 
Quality and Innovation Committee 
The quality and innovation committee are driven by an ambition of excellence in 
clinical quality, clinical effectiveness and patient experience, and the priorities for the 
Group to improve health outcomes and all associated risks or areas of quality 
improvement. It will lead innovation and embed best practice principles in 
commissioned services, always acting with a view to securing continuous 
improvements in the quality of care and services. The Committee will innovate and 
oversee research to deliver heath gain, improved patient safety and a better 
experience for patients. 
 
Executive Team 
The Governing Body has delegated the day to day operational management of the 
CCG to the Executive Team. This includes the implementation and delivery of plans 
agreed by the Governing Body. 
 
The CCG has not entered into any formal joint committees with other CCGs or any 
other organisations.  Collaborative working arrangements have been developed with 
a number of other CCGs, including joint arrangements with the CCGs in the North of 
England to determine commissioning for health gain policies and to review and 
approve individual funding requests, including conducting an appeals process.  
These joint working arrangements do not represent formal joint committees and the 
CCG retains responsibility for making any relevant decisions in line with the Scheme 
of Reservation and Delegation. 
 
In reviewing and assessing the effectiveness of the Governing Body, the guidance 
contained within The UK Corporate Code of Governance (2012) has been further 
developed into a Governing Body ‘self-assessment’ questionnaire. The guidance 
contained within the Code has enabled a detailed review of Governing Body 
effectiveness against the following criteria – leadership, effectiveness, accountability, 
remuneration and relations with stakeholders on a ‘comply or explain’ basis. This has 
been supported by a dedicated session for the Governing Body to review compliance 
with the Code and further Governing Body development will continue throughout the 
year. In particular, having reviewed the effectiveness of the CCG’s governance 
framework and arrangements in relation to The UK Corporate Code of Governance, I 
consider that the organisation complies with the principles and standards of best 
practice contained within the guidance as described. 
 
5. The risk and control arrangements  
The CCGs Risk Management Policy reflects current guidance on risk management 
best practice and incorporates guidance provided by ISO 31000:2009 (formerly 
AZ/NZ Standard 4360:2004) and the former National Patient Safety Agency in its 
approach to assessing risk. 
 
The Risk Management Policy sets out the CCG’s approach to the assessment and 
management of clinical and non-clinical risk in fulfilment of our overall objective to 
support the delivery of the CCGs vision of improving the health of local people by 
commissioning high quality and safe services. This includes the processes and 
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procedures adopted by the CCG to identify, assess and appropriately manage risks 
and the detailed roles and responsibilities for risk management.  It provides guidance 
for the systematic and effective management of risk. Key elements of the Risk 
Management Policy include: 
 

• A clear statement of Governing Body and individual accountability for delivery 
of the policy 

• Clear principles, aims and objectives of the risk management process 
• A clearly defined process for delivering the policy including an implementation 

plan to ensure that the framework and risk management awareness is 
communicated to all staff 

• Details of the approach to be undertaken to assess and report risk 
• An agreed process for reporting, managing, analysing and learning from 

adverse events supported by a ‘fair blame’ culture and approach 
• Confirmation of the arrangements for reporting risk through the risk register 

 
Risk is identified via a number of mechanisms including the incident reporting system 
which identifies the risks that have already (or nearly) occurred; through our strategic 
planning system which ensures that all organisational objectives are rated for risks to 
achievement of delivery; and in our performance management system which rates all 
objectives for risk to delivery. In addition all Governing Body reports are assessed for 
equality impact. 
 
Counter Fraud activity plays a key part in deterring risks to the organisation’s 
financial viability and probity. An annual Counter Fraud Plan is agreed by the 
Governance Audit and Risk Committee which focuses on the deterrence, prevention, 
detection and investigation of fraud. 
 
Counter Fraud requirements and regulations have been specifically discussed with 
both the Governing Body and wider CCG employees during the year to cement their 
knowledge and understanding of Counter Fraud arrangements, with all employees 
also required to complete e-learning training. Risk management is embedded in the 
all systems and processes of the clinical commissioning group. For example, any 
proposal for a decision by the CCG requires a compliance with its Patients Charter 
and equality impact assessments.  
 
The Governance Audit and Risk Committee manage the Assurance Framework and 
Risk Register on behalf of the Governing Body. 
 
6. Risk assessment  
Operational and financial risk is inherent in any organisation no less so in the CCGs 
commissioning responsibilities. Risk management assessment is an integral part of 
prudent management flowing through from strategy development through to delivery 
of operational plans. All risks are identified and evaluated in accordance with the 
Risk Management Policy, through the process set out below, collated into a single 
register and assigned to a Committee and senior officer. Action plans are then 
developed with clear timescales in relation to the identified risk.  
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All risks are reviewed monthly by the appropriate Committee to ensure they are 
appropriately assessed and that action is being taken, with the Executive Team and 
Governing Body performing an overall review of all risks. Risks identified as having 
the potential to significantly impact on CCG corporate objective are escalated and 
specifically reviewed by Governing Body.  
 
The Governance Audit and Risk Committee ensure that the CCG adheres to a robust 
risk management assessment process. Active steps are taken to ensure that it is 
regularly updated. In addition, all CCG policies and reports are assessed for equality 
impact. The CCG also takes measures to secure and take account of the views of its 
stakeholders, including: 
 

• Patient and the Public: The Governing Body meets in public, receiving a report 
from its lay member that champions Patient and Public Involvement, through 
its Community Council, Commissioner Visits, regular involvement with the 
work of the Health and Partnerships Scrutiny Committee, Health and 
Wellbeing Board, consultations with local people on service change and 
improvements and commitment to its Patient Charter 

• Members and Staff: Personal Objectives/Personal Development Plans linked 
to CCGs operational and strategic priorities, Members Assembly, regular 
surveys, supporting Protected Learning Time 
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• Other Stakeholders: Working with other partners through Health and 
Wellbeing Board, Clinical Quality Review Groups and the quarterly Assurance 
and Performance meetings with NHS England 
 

7. Information governance 
The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 
which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 
personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is 
supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 
provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to 
individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and 
effectively. 
 
The CCG’s Information Governance Framework comprises of an approved strategy, 
a suite of approved policies and procedures, a programme of mandatory training, 
information risk management, incident management and has also adopted and 
implemented the Health and Social Care Information Centre’s (HSCIC), ‘Checklist for 
Reporting, Managing and Investigating Information Governance Serious Incidents 
Requiring Investigation’.  
 
The CCG has in place a standard operating procedure for the reporting of level 2 
Information Governance (IG) incidents to the Information Commissioner. This 
procedure outlines the scope of responsibilities and details the reporting procedures 
to be used in the event of a data security breach.  
 
There have been no Information Governance breaches in year requiring disclosure 
to the Information Commissioner or within the annual report. Information Governance 
processes and arrangements are reviewed by the Governance, Audit and Risk 
Committee, with the Executive Team overseeing the day to day management of 
systems and processes. The CCG has also appointed a Caldicott Guardian and 
Senior Information Risk Owner. 
 
The CCG has published the HSCIC Information Governance Toolkit and has self-
assessed as being overall compliant, which confirms the organisation’s rating as 
overall ‘satisfactory’ in this regard. In accordance with the agreed internal audit plan 
for 2013/14 an audit of the IG Toolkit self-assessment was undertaken and the 
outcome of this Audit was that ‘significant assurance’ was warranted.  
 
The CCG complies with its statutory duty to respond to requests for information. 
During the year the CCG received 205 requests under the Freedom of Information 
Act 2000 and no requests under the Data Protection Act 1998.  All the requests were 
responded to within the statutory timescales. 
There have been no Serious Untoward Incidents relating to data security breaches 
involving the CCG during 2013/14 or up to the date of this statement.  
 
The quality of the data used throughout the CCG, including by Governing Body and 
all other committees, is considered to be of an appropriate standard and is sufficient 
to enable all committees to make informed decisions.  Much of the information is 
derived from established national systems and processes, with appropriate review 
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and reconciliation mechanisms in place before the data is presented to Governing 
Body or any other committees. 
 
The key corporate risk in year has been the financial health of the CCG following the 
changes to the organisation of the NHS with effect from April 2013. This has been 
challenging but the work throughout the year has put in place firm foundations for the 
sustaining health and healthcare services for people in Darlington.  The CCG along 
with its partners will need to continue to work together to address challenge into the 
future and the work of ‘Securing Quality in Health Services’ in the cold economic 
climate. The principle clinical challenges have been around the effective 
management of emergency and urgent care. 
 
The financial climate for public sector services continues to be bleak which, 
alongside the increasing demands of an ageing and growing population, will increase 
pressure on services and potential risks around delivery of performance targets 
whilst maintaining quality and ensuring services are safe, within available financial 
resources.   
 
The introduction of the Better Care Fund in 2015/16, a single pooled budget across 
the CCG and local authority, designed to enable transformation in integrated health 
and social care, will require substantial change in the way services are delivered with 
an unprecedented shift in activity required away from hospital and into community 
settings.  
 
The CCG has agreed a two year operational plan, incorporating the Better Care 
Fund, with a five year strategic plan in development, all supported by a financial 
plan.  These plans demonstrate how pressures will be managed to enable continued 
achievement of a balanced financial position whilst also delivering on the strategic 
aims of the CCG.  This remains a substantial risk however, with the impact of the 
Better Care Fund in particular representing a significant challenge. The 
implementation of these plans and the schemes designed to take activity out of the 
acute sector. 
 
8. Review of the effectiveness of risk management and internal 
control 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the 
system of internal control.  
 
The CCG has developed systems and processes in place for managing its 
resources. Robust financial governance arrangements have been maintained 
throughout the year, including the Standing Orders, Scheme of Delegation and Prime 
Financial Policies incorporated within the CCG Constitution, supplemented by the 
CCG’s Standing Financial Instructions and detailed financial limits, all of which 
provide the framework through which the CCG discharges its business.   
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Annual budgets were set by the CCG prior to the start of the financial year, based on 
the medium term financial plan, which set the basis on which resources will be 
utilised.  The financial planning and budget setting process incorporates a review 
and prioritisation of commissioning intentions and investment decisions to enable the 
most appropriate use of available resource.  Annual budgets and longer term 
financial plans are reviewed and approved by the Governing Body.  This includes 
plans to deliver against the Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 
agenda.  
 
This is supported by comprehensive and established systems of internal control 
which help to govern the effective use of resources. The Head of Internal Audit 
provides me with an opinion on the overall arrangements for gaining assurance 
through the Assurance Framework (AF) and on the controls reviewed as part of the 
Internal Audit Programme. Executive officers, clinical and member leads within the 
CCG have responsibilities for the development and maintenance of effective 
arrangements for risk management and internal controls. The AF provides me with 
assurance that the effectiveness of controls that manage risk to the organisation 
achieving its aims and objectives has been reviewed. 
 
Both the Executive Team and Finance and Performance committees play a key role 
in managing performance and delivery against financial plans, ensuring appropriate 
action is taken to address any issues as required and providing assurance to the 
Governing Body that resources are being utilised in line with plans.  In addition, 
monthly finance reports are also reviewed by the Governing Body, showing 
performance against budgets and financial targets, including the QIPP plan. 
 
A service auditor reporting process has been implemented to provide assurance over 
the effectiveness of controls and processes within NECS.  For 2013/14 this report 
will only cover the six months from 1 October 2013 to allow a period of relative 
stability to be reviewed.  The final Service Auditor Report, dated 12 May 2014, and 
the results of internal audit work commissioned by NHS England, as the host 
organisation of NECS, have been shared with the CCG and demonstrate no major 
deficiencies that would have a significant impact on the operations of the CCG.     
 
The CCG also has additional systems of control and review mechanisms internally 
over the work performed by NECS which provide additional assurance that there 
have been no significant internal control issues which have impacted on the CCG.    
 
My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by a 
number of reports from and work of the Committees of the Governing Body between 
1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 has included: 
 

• CCG Assurance Framework in place to ensure effective control systems to 
manage and mitigate risk 

• GARC overview on behalf of the Governing Body including minutes and 
engagement with the planning and monitoring of the Independent Audit 
Process 

• The results of Internal Audit work, which has provided the CCG with 
‘significant assurance’ 
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• External Audit work, including their management letter and other reports 
• Evidence in compliance with the information governance 
• Reports to the Governing Body on risk 

 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Governing Body, Executive 
Team, the Risk and Audit Committee and a plan to address weaknesses and ensure 
continuous improvement of the system is in place.  
 
The leadership provided by the Governance, Audit and Rick Committee, working 
directly to the Governing Body, chaired by the lay member with the lead role in 
overseeing key elements of Governance, including the Independent Audit Process 
provides a robust and independent lens that provides assurance to the Governing 
Body: 
 

• The Governing Body’s performance including its assessment of its own 
effectiveness 

• Themed\Development sessions for Governing Body 
• Each member of staff has agreed individual objectives linked to the CCGs 

operational and strategic objectives 
• I have regular one-to-one sessions with each of the three lay members, as 

does the Chair\Clinical Lead 
• The Chair has an agreed programme for engagement with each member 

practice 
• At the end of our first year of operation all staff have met the requirements for 

mandatory training which is predetermined as mandatory to them, depending 
upon their role. This includes but is not limited to Infection, Prevention and 
Control; Equality and Diversity; Health & Safety; Counter Fraud; information 
governance, safeguarding and I am assured that principal agents at NECS 
have significant assurance for mandatory training 

 
I am satisfied that the CCG has built upon the high level of compliance it 
demonstrated through its authorisation process to become a CCG against NHS 
England’s ‘CCG Assurance Framework’ and am therefore satisfied that the CCGs 
structures systems and processes are effective and that there are sufficient 
resources to allow for the effective management of risk.  
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year, the Head of 
Internal Audit issued an independent and objective opinion on the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk management, governance and internal 
control. The Head of Internal Audit concluded that:  
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9. Head of Internal Audit (HoIA) Opinion 
Roles and responsibilities       
The Accountable Officer is responsible for maintaining a sound system of internal 
control and is responsible for putting in place arrangements for gaining assurance 
about the effectiveness of that overall system.   
 
The Annual Governance Statement is an annual statement by the Accountable 
Officer, on behalf of the Governing Body, setting out: 
 

• How the individual responsibilities of the Accountable Officer are discharged 
with regard to maintaining a sound system of internal control that supports the 
achievement of policies, aims and objectives 

• The purpose of the system of internal control as evidenced by a description of 
the risk management and review processes, including the Assurance 
Framework process 

• The conduct and results of the review of the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control including any disclosures of significant control failures together 
with assurances that actions are or will be taken where appropriate to address 
issues arising 
 

The organisation’s Assurance Framework should bring together all of the evidence 
required to support the Annual Governance Statement requirements.  
 
In accordance with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, the Head of Internal Audit 
(HoIA) is required to provide an annual opinion, based upon, and limited to, the work 
performed, on the overall adequacy and effectiveness of the organisation’s risk 
management, control and governance processes (i.e. the organisation’s system of 
internal control). This is achieved through a risk-based plan of work, agreed with 
management and approved by the Governance, Audit and Risk Committee, which 
should provide a reasonable level of assurance, subject to the inherent limitations 
described below.  
 
The opinion does not imply that Internal Audit have reviewed all risks and 
assurances relating to the organisation. The opinion is substantially derived from the 
conduct of risk-based plans, generated from a robust and organisation-led 
Assurance Framework. As such, it is one component that the Accountable Officer 
takes into account in making the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
The Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
The purpose of our annual HoIA Opinion is to contribute to the assurances available 
to the Accountable Officer and the Governing Body which underpin the Accountable 
Officer’s own assessment of the effectiveness of the organisation’s system of internal 
control. This opinion will, in turn, assist the Accountable Officer in the completion of 
the Annual Governance Statement. 
 
Our opinion is set out as follows: 

1. Overall opinion 
2. Basis for the opinion 
3. Commentary 
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Our overall opinion is that Significant Assurance can be given that there is a 
generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s 
objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some 
weakness in the design and inconsistent application of controls put the achievement 
of particular objectives at risk.  
 
The basis for forming our opinion is as follows: 
 

1. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 
Framework and supporting processes 

2. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk based 
audit assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that have 
been reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken account of the 
relative materiality of these areas and management’s progress in respect of 
addressing control weaknesses 

 
Any reliance that is being placed upon third party assurances 
The commentary below provides the context for our opinion and, together with the 
opinion, should be read in its entirety. 
 
The design and operation of the Assurance Framework and associated processes: 
The Assurance Framework was inherited from the predecessor PCT and has been 
further developed in year. Therefore it has existed throughout   the year and although 
it may require some development it is generally ‘fit for purpose’. Risk management 
processes have been in place throughout the year, however, our review highlighted 
areas for improvement.  
 
CCG management assurances indicate no significant issues have occurred 
throughout the year along with NECS management assertions they are not aware of 
any significant issues during the year.  
 
The range of individual opinions arising from risk-based audit assignments, 
contained within risk-based plans that have been reported during the year: 
During the year 2013/14 we have undertaken our work in accordance with the 
Internal Audit annual plan. In October 2013 we reviewed and refreshed the CCG 
internal audit plan to ensure the continued provision of effective assurance, which 
was approved by the Governance, Audit & Risk Committee. Throughout the year we 
have reported our findings to the Chief Finance Officer and Chief Officer (and 
Executive colleagues where applicable). Our internal audit progress reports to the 
Governance Audit & Risk Committee have set out the areas covered by internal audit 
work during the year, our results and matters arising.  
 
The majority of this work would indicate that significant assurance opinions have, or 
will be assigned to the majority of the CCG’s systems and processes. There is one 
audit that we have not have concluded at the time of writing this annual report; 
 
Francis II Review 
We do not anticipate that there will be significant issues arising from this review, 
however, it has not contributed to the overall assurance level provided within this 
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report and will be reported to the Governance, Audit & Risk Committee in due 
course.  
 
By way of commentary it should also be noted that there have been no ‘no 
assurance’ final reports issued for 2013/14, nor any ‘limited assurance’ areas.  
 
In undertaking our duties we have identified some weaknesses in the design or 
effectiveness of controls in certain systems. We have reported these issues during 
the year, and post the year end, and would specifically bring the following to the 
Accountable Officer’s attention for potential disclosure within the Annual Governance 
Statement: 
 
Governance and risk management arrangements 
 
A Lay Member of the GARC has acted as the Chair of the committee until the 
appointment of a permanent Chair in January 2014. This has affected the 
effectiveness of the committee to provide robust challenge and the reporting 
requirements between the GARC and Governing Body required clarification.    
Business plans were not in place for all Committees of the Governing Body, to assist 
in demonstrating the discharge of respective duties.  
 
The register of interests was not complete for Members and employees of the CCG 
for the whole year. 
 
When conflicts of interest arise in Committee meetings, minutes have not always 
clearly recorded the action taken.  
 
The Standard of Business Conduct and Declarations of Interest Policy was brought 
forward from the PCT but was not amended to reflect CCG procedures.  
The Risk Management Policy has not been up to date throughout the year and 
required refreshing, and additional detail.  
 
Updates to the risk register have not been comprehensive or robustly carried out 
either by responsible directors/risk owners or committees. 
 
Risk management responsibilities for the Finance and Performance Committee are 
not explicit in the terms of reference. 
                    
Third party assurances 
The CCG has received assurance from NECS management in respect of the 
controls operating in the first 7 months of 2013/14. In respect of the last 5 months it 
has received a service user report from NECS listing operating controls and 
comments on their effectiveness. In addition, NECS contracted with NIAS regarding 
quality aspects of continuing healthcare.  
 
The CCG has also received service auditor reports from Shared Business Services 
for finance and accounting and procurement controls. At the time of writing the 
annual report the service auditor report for payroll had not been received.  
The CCG has received some support from NECS governance team. Although we 
have no significant issues, we have discussed some 
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concerns that exist (from our perspective) regarding those arrangements which 
require some review and clarification in 2014/15. 
 
Audit North 
May 2014 
 
10. Pension obligations  
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, 
control measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the 
Scheme regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from 
salary, employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance 
with the Scheme rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately 
updated in accordance with the timescales detailed in the Regulations.  
 
11. Equality, diversity and human rights.  
Control measures are in place to ensure that the CCGs public sector equality duty as 
set out in the Equality Act 2010.  
 
12. Climate change adaptation reporting 
The CCG is required to report its progress in delivering against sustainable 
development indicators.  
 
We are developing plans to assess risks, enhance our performance and reduce our 
impact, including against carbon reduction and climate change adaptation objectives. 
This includes establishing mechanisms to embed social and environmental 
sustainability across policy development, business planning and in commissioning.  
 
We will ensure the CCG complies with its obligations under the Climate Change Act 
2008, including the Adaptation Reporting power, and the Public Services (Social 
Value) Act 2012. We are also setting out our commitments as a socially responsible 
employer. 
 
13. Business critical models 
The CCG is aware of the quality assurance requirements in respect of business 
critical models contained within the recommendations in the Macpherson report and I 
consider that appropriate arrangements are in place to provide sufficient quality 
assurance. 
 
Any business critical models identified, together with information relating to the 
quality assurance processes for those models, will be provided to the Analytical 
Oversight Committee chaired by the Chief Analyst in the Department of Health, as 
appropriate. 
 
14. Discharge of statutory functions 
During establishment, the arrangements put in place by the CCG and explained 
within the Corporate Governance Framework were developed with extensive expert 
external legal input, to ensure compliance with the all 

54 
 



Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual report and accounts     2013-14 

 

relevant legislation. That legal advice also informed the matters reserved for 
Membership Body and Governing Body decision and the Scheme of Delegation. 
 
In light of the Harris Review, the clinical commissioning group has reviewed all of the 
statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the National Health Service Act 2006 
(as amended) and other associated legislative and regulations. As a result, I can 
confirm that the CCG is clear about the legislative requirements associated with 
each of the statutory functions for which it is responsible, including any restrictions 
on delegation of those functions. 
Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. 
Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 
and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning group’s statutory duties. 
 
15. Conclusion  
No significant internal control issues have been identified.  
 
Statement as disclosure to auditors 
The Governing Body is not aware of any relevant audit information that has been 
withheld from the clinical commissioning group’s external auditors, and members of 
the Governing Body take all necessary steps to make themselves aware of relevant 
information and to ensure that this is passed to the external auditors where 
appropriate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Martin Phillips 
Accountable Officer  
5 June 2014 
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Remuneration report 
Remuneration and Terms of Service Committee (not subject to audit) 
The remuneration and terms of service committee was established to advise the 
Governing Body about pay and other benefits and terms of employment for the Chief 
Officer and other senior staff.  
The committee comprised: 
 

• Andrea Jones, CCG Chair and Chair of Remuneration and Terms of Service 
Committee 

• Michelle Thompson, Lay Member 
• John Flook, Lay Member (from November 2013) 

 
Further detail of membership of the committee and attendance at meetings is 
included in the Governing Body and Committee Members section of this report. 
 
The policy of the remuneration and terms of service committee on the remuneration 
of senior managers is to adopt DH guidance on all aspects of senior managers pay. 
There were no variations to this policy in 2013/14 and the remuneration for senior 
managers during the financial year was determined in accordance with national 
policy. 
 
Senior Management Service Contracts (not subject to audit) 
All CCG senior managers hold permanent contracts which have no end date 
or unexpired term. In the event of termination, in line with employment legislation, the 
only liabilities would be for notice pay and, if applicable, redundancy pay. For the 
CCG senior managers listed below redundancy pay would be one months' salary for 
each complete year of NHS service up to a maximum of 24.  
 

• Andrea Jones, CCG Chair  
• Martin Phillips, Chief Officer 
• Lisa Tempest, Chief Finance Officer 
• Elizabeth Graham, Lead CCG Nurse 
• Jackie Kay, Assistant Chief Officer 

 
With the exception of Elizabeth Graham who commenced employment with the CCG 
on 1 May 2013, all senior managers transferred to the CCG from a Primary Care 
Trust on 1 April 2014.  
 
Notice periods for the CCG senior managers are as below:  
 

• Andrea Jones, CCG Chair – 6 months 
• Martin Phillips, Chief Officer – 6 months 
• Lisa Tempest, Chief Finance Officer – 6 months 
• Elizabeth Graham, Lead CCG Nurse – 13 weeks 
• Jackie Kay, Assistant Chief Officer – 12 weeks 

 
 

56 
 



Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual report and accounts     2013-14 

 

Darlington CCG Senior Officers Salaries and Allowances 2013/14: (subject to audit) 
 
 

Name Title 

2013/14 
Salary & fees Taxable benefits Annual 

performance 
related bonuses 

Long-term 
performance 

related bonuses 

All pension 
related 

Total 

(Bands of £5,000) (Rounded to the 
nearest £00) 

(Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £5,000) (Bands of £2,500) (Bands of £5,000) 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Dr Andrea Jones Chair 65-70 0 0 0 0-2.5 65-70 
Dr Andrea Jones Salaried GP 15-20 0 0 0 0 15-20 
Martin Phillips Chief Officer 100-105 1.9 0 0 127.5-130 235-240 
Lisa Tempest Chief Finance 

Officer 
80-85 0 0 0 12.5-15 95-100 

Jackie Kay Assistant Chief 
Officer 

80-85 1.3 0 0 12.5-15 95-100 

Richard Harker Quality Lead 25-30 0 0 0 0 25-30 
Patrick Holmes Deputy Lead 

Clinician 
5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Lucy Hansen Secondary Care 
Clinician 

10-15 0 0 0 0 10-15 

Michelle 
Thompson 

Lay member 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 

Andie Mackay Lay member 0 0 0 0 0 0 
John Flook Lay member 5-10 0 0 0 0 5-10 
Elizabeth Graham Lead CCG Nurse 25-30 0 0 0 0 25-30 
 
Payments for Loss of Office (subject to audit) 
No individual who was a senior manager in the current or in a previous financial year has received a payment for loss of office 
during the financial year. 
 
Pay Multiples (subject to audit) 
Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest paid director in their 
organisation and the median remuneration of the workforce of the organisation. 
 
The banded remuneration of the highest paid director in Darlington CCG in the financial year 2013/14 was £105 - 110k. This was 
1.8 times higher than the median remuneration of the workforce which was £59,001. 
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In 2013/14, no employees received remuneration in excess of the highest paid member of the governing body. Remuneration 
ranged from £9,196 to £106,898. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance related pay, benefits-in-kind. It 
does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 
 

58 
 



Darlington Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual report and accounts     2013-14 

 

Darlington CCG Senior Officers Pension Benefits 2013/14 (subject to audit) 
 

Name Title 

2013/14 

Real 
Increase/(reduction) 
in pension at age 60 

Real 
Increase/(reduction) 

in lump sum at 
aged 60 

Total 
accrued 

pension at 
age 60 at 
31 March 

2014 

Lump sum 
at aged 60 
related to 

accrued 
pension at 

31 March 
2014 

Cash 
equivalent 

transfer at 31 
March 2013 

Cash 
Equivalent 
value at 31 

March 2014 

Real increase 
in cash 

equivalent 

Employer's 
contribution 

to 
partnership 

pension 

(bands of £2500) (bands of £2500) 
(bands of 

£5000) 
(Bands of 

£5000)       
£000's £000's £000's £000's £000’s £000's £000’s £00 

Dr Andrea 
Jones 

Chair and 
Lead 
Clinician 

0-2.5 0-2.5 0-5 10-15 75 86 11 0 

Martin 
Phillips Chief Officer 5-7.5 17.5-20 40-45 120-125 622 756 134 0 

Lisa 
Tempest 

Chief 
Finance 
Officer 

0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 0-5 70 84 15 0 

Jackie Kay Assistant 
Chief Officer 0-2.5 0-2.5 5-10 0-5 70 84 15 0 

Patrick 
Holmes 

Deputy lead 
Clinician 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Richard 
Harker Quality Lead 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Lucy Hansen 
Secondary 
Care 
Clinician 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Michelle 
Thompson Lay Member 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Andie 
Mackay Lay Member 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

John Flook Lay Member 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Elizabeth 
Graham 

Lead CCG 
Nurse 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

 
Please note: Dr Andrea Jones was employed in two different posts during 2013/14. The above pension disclosure relates to both 
posts. 
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Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (subject to audit) 
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 
the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s 
pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme 
or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or 
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit 
accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that 
the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the 
pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure 
applies. The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any 
pension benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has 
transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension 
benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of 
pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the 
guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 
 
Real increase in Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (subject to audit) 
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes 
account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the 
employee, (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 
arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the 
period. 
 
Off-payroll Engagements (not subject to audit) 
Details of off-payroll engagements as of March 2014 for more than £220 per day and 
that last longer than six months are as below: 
 
The number that have existed  
For less than one year at the time of reporting 1 
For between one and two years at the time of reporting 1 
For between two and three years at the time of reporting 0 
For between three and four years at the time of reporting 0 
For four or more years at the time of reporting 0 
Total number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2014 2 
 
All existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at some point been 
subject to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is required that the 
individual is paying the right amount of tax, and, where necessary, that assurance 
has been sought.  
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Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in 
duration, between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2014 1 

Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the 
clinical commissioning group the right to request assurance in relation 
to Income Tax and National Insurance obligations 

1 

Number for whom assurance has been requested  
Of which, the number: 
For whom assurance has been received 1 
For whom assurance has not been received 0 
That have been terminated as a result of assurance not being received 0 
 
The proportion of Governing Body members with off-payroll engagement 
arrangements is as below: 
 
Number of off-payroll engagement of Membership Body and/or 
Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with significant 
financial responsibility, during the financial year 

2 

Number of individuals that have been deemed “Membership Body 
and/or Governing Body members, and/or, senior officials with 
significant financial responsibility”, during the financial year (this figure 
includes both off-payroll and on-payroll engagements) 

10 

 
 
Performance (not subject to audit) 
Continuation of employment, under the senior managers’ contracts of employment is 
subject to satisfactory performance. Performance in post and progress in achieving 
set objectives is reviewed annually. There were no individual performance review 
payments made to senior managers during the year and there are no plans to make 
such payments in future years outside of the Very Senior Management Pay 
Framework. This is in accordance with standard NHS terms and conditions of service 
and guidance issued by the DH. 
 
Contracts of employment in relation to the Chief Officer and senior managers are 
permanent in nature and subject to six months’ notice of termination by either party. 
Termination payments are limited to those laid down in statute and those provided for 
within NHS terms and conditions of service and under the NHS Pension Scheme 
Regulations for those who are members of the scheme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Martin Phillips 
Accountable Officer 
NHS Darlington CCG 
5 June 2014 
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Annual accounts 
Report on the financial statements 

Our opinion 
In our opinion the financial statements, defined below: 

• give a true and fair view, of the state of the Clinical Commissioning Group’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2014 and of its net operating costs for the year then 
ended; and 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the accounting policies 
directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of the Secretary 
of State. 

 
This opinion is to be read in the context of what we say in the remainder of this 
report. 

What we have audited 
The financial statements, which are prepared by NHS Darlington Clinical 
Commissioning Group (“CCG”), comprise: 

• the Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2014; 

• the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the year then ended; 

• the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity for the year then ended;  

• the Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended; and 

• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the 
accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning Board with the approval of 
the Secretary of State. 
In applying the financial reporting framework, the Accountable Officer has made a 
number of subjective judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting 
estimates. In making such estimates, they have made assumptions and considered 
future events. 

What an audit of financial statements involves 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK 
and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”). An audit involves obtaining evidence about the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of:  

• whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the CCG’s circumstances 
and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;  

• the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
Accountable Officer; and  
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• the overall presentation of the financial statements.  
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual 
Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and 
to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or 
materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of 
performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or 
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 
We are also required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that 
the expenditure and income reported in the financial statements have been applied 
to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the 
authorities which govern them. 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Code of Audit Practice 

In our opinion: 

• the information given in the Annual Report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; 

• the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared 
in accordance with the requirements directed by the NHS Commissioning 
Board with the approval of the Secretary of State; and 

• in all material respects the expenditure and income have been applied to the 
purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the 
authorities which govern them. 

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Code of 
Audit Practice issued by the Audit Commission requires us to report to you if:  

• in our opinion, the Governance Statement does not comply with the Annual 
Accounts guidance 2013/14, issued on 27 March 2014 by the NHS 
Commissioning Board or is misleading or inconsistent with information of 
which we are aware from our audit; 

• we refer a matter to the Secretary of State under section 19 of the Audit 
Commission Act 1998 because the CCG, or an officer of the CCG, is about to 
make, or has made, a decision involving unlawful expenditure, or is about to 
take, or has taken, unlawful action likely to cause a loss or deficiency; or 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 8 of the Audit 
Commission Act 1998.   

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit 
Our responsibilities and those of the Accountable Officer 
As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer’s Responsibilities set 
out on page 39 the Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the accounting policies directed by the NHS Commissioning Board 
with the approval of the Secretary of State.  
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Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in 
accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998, the Code of Audit Practice 
2010 for local NHS bodies issued by the Audit Commission and ISAs (UK & Ireland). 
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors.  
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Governing 
Body of NHS Darlington in accordance with Part II of the Audit Commission Act 1998 
as set out in paragraph 44 of the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and of 
Audited Bodies (Local NHS bodies) published by the Audit Commission in April 2014, 
and for no other purpose.  We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume 
responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is 
shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior 
consent in writing. 
 

Conclusion on the CCG’s arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

Conclusion 
On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance issued by the Audit 
Commission in October 2013, we have no matters to report with respect to whether, 
NHS Darlington CCG put in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ending 31 March 
2014. 

What a review of the arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources involves 
We have undertaken our audit in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having 
regard to the guidance issued by the Audit Commission in October 2013. We have 
considered the results of the following: 

• our review of the Governance Statement; 

• the work of other relevant regulatory bodies or inspectorates, to the extent 
that the results of this work impact on our responsibilities at the CCG; and 

• our locally determined risk-based work on. 

Our responsibilities and those of the CCG  
The CCG is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship 
and governance, and to review regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these 
arrangements. 
We are required under Section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998 to satisfy 
ourselves that the CCG has made proper arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice 
issued by the Audit Commission requires us to report to you any matters that prevent 
us being satisfied that the CCG has put in place such arrangements. 
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Certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of the financial statements of NHS 
Darlington CCG in accordance with the requirements of Part II of the Audit 
Commission Act 1998 and the Code of Audit Practice issued by the Audit 
Commission.  
 

Greg Wilson  (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
Newcastle upon Tyne 
9 June 2014 
 
 

(a) The maintenance and integrity of the Darlington CCG website is the 
responsibility of the directors; the work carried out by the auditors does not 
involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the auditors accept 
no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial 
statements since they were initially presented on the website. 

(b) Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from legislation in other 
jurisdictions.  
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Financial statements 
The full annual accounts are included on the next pages. 
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